
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF 

YPSILANTI BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

March 5, 2024 

Regular Meeting – 6:00 p.m. 

Ypsilanti Township Civic Center 
7200 S. Huron River Drive 

Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

Supervisor 
BRENDA L. STUMBO 

Clerk 
HEATHER JARRELL ROE 

Treasurer 
STAN ELDRIDGE 

Trustees 
RYAN HUNTER 

JOHN P. NEWMAN II 
GLORIA PETERSON 
DEBBIE SWANSON 



  Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
7200 S. HURON RIVER DRIVE•YPSILANTI, MI 48197 

SUPERVISOR BRENDA STUMBO • CLERK HEATHER JARRELL ROE • TREASURER STAN 
ELDRIDGE TRUSTEES: RYAN HUNTER • JOHN P. NEWMAN II • GLORIA PETERSON •  
DEBBIE SWANSON  

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
 TUESDAY, MARCH 5, 2024 

    6:00 P.M. 

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION

3. PRESENTATION OF BEYER RELIEF AND YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP DRAIN #01

4. CONSENT AGENDA

A. MINUTES OF THE FEBRUARY 6, 2024 REGULAR MEETING

B. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS

1. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS FOR FEBRUARY 20, 2024 IN THE AMOUNT OF
$1,051,902.91

2. CLARITY HEALTHCARE DEDUCTIBLE ACH EFT FOR DECEMBER 2023 IN
THE AMOUNT OF $33,149.66

3. CLARITY HEALTHCARE DEDUCTIBLE ACH EFT FOR JANUARY 2024 IN THE
AMOUNT OF 58,966.35

4. CLARITY HEALTHCARE ADMIN FEE FOR DECEMBER 2023 IN THE AMOUNT
OF $2,112.57

5. CLARITY HEALTHCARE ADMIN FEE FOR JANUARY 2024 IN THE AMOUNT
OF $1,905.51

6. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS FOR MARCH 5, 2024 IN THE AMOUNT OF
$729,876.73

5. ATTORNEY REPORT

A. GENERAL LEGAL UPDATE

NEW BUSINESS 

1. RESOLUTION 2024-03, REQUEST TO AUTHORIZE THE WASHTENAW COUNTY WATER
RESOURCE COMMISSION’S PETITION FOR THE BAZLEY FOSTER DRAIN

2. REQUEST TO APPROVE THE AGREEMENT WITH EASTERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY FOR
OPERATION OF A ROWING COURSE ON FORD LAKE

3. REQUEST TO APPROVE THE PROPOSAL FOR SERVICES FROM LIFE AFTER
INCARCERATION: TRANSITION AND REENTRY IN THE MONTHLY AMOUNT OF $9,000.00
BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM 266-301-830-004

4. REQUEST AUTHORIZATION FOR CIRCUIT COURT LITIGATION TO ABATE PUBLIC
NUISANCES AT 1145 W. MICHIGAN, 161 ECORSE RD., 9725 BEMIS RD. AND 9645 BEMIS
RD. BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #101-729-801-023



Ypsilanti Township Board Agenda Page 2 March 5, 2024 

5. REQUEST TO APPROVE THE 2024 YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP AGREEMENT WITH THE
WASHTENAW COUNTY ROAD COMMISSION FOR STREET SWEEPING IN THE AMOUNT
OF $17,113.74 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #213-446-982-006

6. REQUEST TO MOVE DAVID MARSHALL FROM ALTERNATE TO REGULAR MEMBER OF
THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS TO FILL THE VACANCY WITH A TERM EXPIRING
DECEMBER 31, 2024

7. REQUEST TO APPOINT DARRELL KIRBY TO THE PLANNING COMMISSION WITH A TERM
EXPIRING DECEMB3ER 31, 2026

8. REQUEST TO TEMPORARILY APPOINT ELIZABETH CUELLAR TO THE CIVIL SERVICE
COMMISSION WITH A TERM EXPIRING DECEMBER 31, 2024

9. BUDGET AMENDMENT #3

AUTHORIZATIONS AND BIDS 

1. REQUEST TO AWARD THE LOW BID FOR PARK SIGN INSTALLATION TO BILL CARR
SIGNS IN THE AMOUNT OF $55,000.00 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #213-901-975-794

OTHER BUSINESS 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

• THREE MINUTES PER PERSON
• ALL COMMENTS MUST BE ADDRESSED TO THE CHAIR
• PUBLIC COMMENTS ARE ALSO WELCOME AS THE BOARD ADDRESSES EACH

AGENDA ITEM

BOARD MEMBER UPDATES



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
Ryan Hunter 

John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
To:      Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 
 
From:  Brenda Stumbo, Township Supervisor 
 
Date:   February 28, 2024 
 
RE:     Request for presentation of Beyer Relief and Ypsilanti Township Drain #01 by Water 

Resources Commissioner Evan Pratt 
 
The Supervisor’s Office is requesting to add a presentation from Water Resources Commissioner  
Evan Pratt on the petition and resolutions approved at the December 19, 2023 Board of Trustees   
meeting.   
 
On behalf of our residents, we have asked our County Commissioners and County Administrator  
to help fund this study and they are considering it. Attached please find estimates from OHM  
regarding the engineer study of these two areas in our township. They have started cleaning out  
the existing storm drain in the road right of way to determine the condition of the storm water  
pipes.   
 
As you know, Washtenaw County Road Commission does not perform preventative maintenance  
of their storm drains and it is why we petitioned to be under the jurisdiction of the Water  
Resource Commission who has the ability to finance drain projects. This will help determine the  
possible solutions to assist in preventing additional harm to homeowners and businesses that the  
climate change rain events have caused in the West Willow and Oaklawn Hawthorn area. One  
other area of concern is the West Side of the Township that borders on the City that did not flood 
this year but has in the past.    
 
Partners include YCUA and the Drain Commissioners office and we look forward to solving 
issues that have not been issues in the past.    



 
 
 

OHM Advisors® 
355 SOUTH ZEEB ROAD, SUITE A 
ANN ARBOR, MICHIGAN 48103 

T 734.522.6711 
F 734.522.6427 OHM-Advisors.com 

  

November 13, 2023 
 
Mr. Evan Pratt, P.E. 
Water Resources Commissioner    
Washtenaw County Water Resources Commissioner’s Office 
705 North Zeeb Road 
Ann Arbor, MI 48103 
 
  
RE: Proposal for Professional Services 
Beyer Relief Stormwater Management Study 
 
Dear Mr. Pratt: 
 
Thank you for contacting us to provide professional services to the Washtenaw County Water Resources 
Commissioners Office (WCWRC) for the Beyer Relief stormwater management study. We have prepared this letter 
proposal based on the information provided and discussions with you and WCWRC staff. This proposal represents 
our understanding of the project, scope of services, schedule and compensation. 
 
Statement of Understanding 

In collaboration with the Ypsilanti Community Utilitiues Authority (YCUA) and the Washtenaw County Road 
Commission (WCRC), your office has identified that a stormwater management study is needed for the Beyer Relief 
stormwater network of Ypsilanti Township. On August 24, 2023, an intense deluge of rain fell over regions in 
Ypsilanti Township that qualified as a 500-year storm event. Over a four-hour period, the neighboring Willow Run 
Airport registered 5.37 inches of rainfall which resulted in infrastructure damage, expansive flooding, and basement 
backups. Residents in the West Willow neighborhood were particularly impacted with widespread reported flooding 
and damage. The Washtenaw County Water Resources Commissioners Office has requested that a study be 
performed on the Beyer Relief Drain (~1000 acres). A map that highlights the assumed drainage areas for this 
network is included as attachment A. Due to the age of the system and a number of changes that have happened 
throughout history to modify drainage patterns, a stormwater conveyance model will be necessary to identify the 
root causes of the flooding issues and identify potential solutions. The study will aim to develop a set of stormwater 
management alternatives that can be incorporated into upcoming CIP planning efforts to improve the level of service 
for the impacted community.  
 
Portions of the Beyer Relief Drain are expected to have missing data. As a result, a field evaluation will be necessary 
to collect asset data to fill in the network data gaps. Coordination with WCRC and vested team members will be 
necessary throughout this project to identify sustainable solutions that will benefit the community as well as the asset 
owners.  
 
With the projected recurrence of catastrophic storm events on the rise as a result of climate change, planning needs 
to take place now that will address current problems while simultaneously planning for the future needs. The West 
Willow neighborhood and neighboring community is still in the process of recovering from this catastrophic event 
from August 2023 and the scars left from the damage are fresh. The community is disadvantaged and has been very 
vocal about the challenges they have faced during recovery. The community is still seeking answers surrounding 
what happened and they want solutions going forward. Proposed solutions will need to consider that catastrophic 
events may begin to occur on a more regular basis into the future. Engagement with the public will be an important 
and challenging aspect of this project but is absolutely critical to the long-term success of potential solutions. The 
public will need to be made aware of ongoing efforts and be informed on root causes and proposed solutions if the 
project is to be successful.   
 



Recipient Name 
Select a date  
Page 2 of 8 
 

OHM Advisors® 
355 SOUTH ZEEB ROAD, SUITE A 
ANN ARBOR, MICHIGAN 48103 

T 734.522.6711 
F 734.522.6427 OHM-Advisors.com 

 
 

Scope of Services 

To address this challenge, OHM is proposing that a stormwater management study be performed that gathers the 
data needed to develop a hydraulic and hydrologic (H&H) model of the target stormwater network. The model will 
be used to identify the root causes of flooding and seek stormwater management solutions that may reduce the 
future flood risk for the Beyer Relief network. A range of potential solutions along with their associated costs will 
be developed and presented to WCWRC so that stormwater capital improvement projects can be built into future 
planning efforts to address concerns.  
 
Typically, stormwater systems have a level of service criteria close the 10-year storm event. Given that the August 
2023 event registered closer to a 500-year event, it will be important to have an open dialogue with the community 
and appropriately set expectations. There will always be a bigger storm event and designing for a 500-year may not 
be cost feasible. The community will likely demand that stormwater be managed so that this never happens again, 
but CIP costs and available land space will limit the achievable level of service criteria. OHM will help facilitate open 
dialogues with the community to find a balance between affordability and risk that are acceptable to the public.  
 
Task 1 – PROJECT MANAGEMENT AND FACILITATION  
The OHM Advisors project management will be responsible for coordination of scope of service activities internally 
and with stakeholders throughout the progress of the project. The OHM project team will work to regularly 
communicate throughout the duration of the project and deliver the items listed in this proposal. Specific work 
efforts include the following: 

1. Manage scope schedule and budget. 
2. Coordinate project communication and meetings. 
3. Submit and coordinate project invoicing. 
4. Prepare for and attend bi-weekly update meetings with client to update on project progress for both the 

West Willow stormwater study as well as the Beyer Relief drain stormwater study (Assumes 26 total 

meetings with the cost split between both projects). 

Deliverables 
 Kickoff meeting agenda and minutes 
 Information requests 
 Meeting announcements (agendas) and invitations 
 Project presentation materials 
 Invoices 

 
Task 2 – PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND COMMUNICATION 
Meaningful engagement from important stakeholders is critical to the success of any project, and this aspect is 
amplified with the emotionally charged complex context of the flooding issues experienced in the West Willow 
neighborhood and neighboring communities. Coordination will be a complex undertaking as the process requires 
engaging with a diverse set of stakeholders, each holding different perspectives and priorities. Addressing these 
complexities will require initiating the process of stakeholder engagement early, to foster a community understanding 
of the approach, building support of collectively defined metrics, and developing trust in the flooding study team. 
The goal of this task is to develop and implement an effective outreach strategy to engage stakeholders and bolster 
the confidence of the flooding analysis and conceptual solutions needed for it to be successful. To complete this 
task, OHM will be subcontracting work for this task out to Nonprofit Network, a firm that is well versed and 
experienced in communicating and soliciting feedback from sensitive issues such as this. Specific work efforts are as 
follows: 



Recipient Name 
Select a date  
Page 3 of 8 
 

OHM Advisors® 
355 SOUTH ZEEB ROAD, SUITE A 
ANN ARBOR, MICHIGAN 48103 

T 734.522.6711 
F 734.522.6427 OHM-Advisors.com 

 
 

1. Coordinate and manage four community meetings to interact with the public and complete task objectives. 
2. Listen to the concerns of community members and gather relevant information for the study. 
3. Set clear expectations with the public on what the study will be aiming to accomplish. 
4. Report back to the community on project progress and results. 

 
Deliverables 
 Four in person community public engagement meetings 
 Meeting slides and materials developed for communication 
 
Task 3 – BACKGROUND INVESTIGATION 
WCWRC manages its stormwater assets in an asset management database that will be crucial for model development. 
This database along with other available data sets (e.g. as-builts, GIS data, climate data, DEMs) will need to be 
reviewed for the Beyer Relief Drain network to identify data gaps. Asset data relating to pipe slopes, inverts, ground 
surface elevations, sizes, and connectivity will be critical to develop a reliable H&H model of these systems. Rainfall 
data will be compiled from the Willow Run Airport and processed for incorporation into the models. Relevant data 
will be compiled in an online GIS geodatabase that will serve both as a future resource and a tool to expedite model 
development and data analytics. Critical missing data will be flagged in the database for collection in future field 
efforts. Specific work efforts are as follows:  

1. Reviewing available as-built files, existing GIS data, and asset inventory data to evaluate data availability as 
it pertains to model development. 

2. Compile historic rainfall data from the Willow Run Airport and process for model incorporation.   
3. Develop an online geodatabase to house critical model data and flag missing data for future collection. 
4. Complete a data gap analysis that summarizes the missing data and identifies the critical information that 

will necessitate further field collection.  
 
Deliverables 
 Data compilation geodatabase 
 Data gap analysis technical memorandum 

 
Task 4 – FIELD DATA COLLECTION AND COMPILATION 
Alternatives are reliant on reliable H&H models that depend on accurate data sets which makes data collection a 
critical phase of the project. Developing the geodatabase and the data gap analysis is the first step of identifying what 
is needed for the model and subsequent alternatives. A crew will utilize the developed geodatabase to collect the 
flagged missing data for incorporation into the H&H model. It is anticipated that one week of field survey time will 
be necessary to complete this task, but this time could vary depending on the quantity of missing data. Additional 
field data collection services will be priced separately as an as-needed service and the quantity of field data to be 
collected will be agreed upon between OHM and WCWRC before collection begins. 
 
In order to quantify the model’s predictive accuracy, a flow meter will need to be installed to provide calibration and 
validation data. A targeted location will be selected that drains a large percentage of the collection system. A desktop 
survey will be performed, and a set of possible locations will be identified and provided to WCWRC for review. An 
ideal site will be selected and flow meters will be installed for a period of six months (anticipated April-September). 
Data will be downloaded monthly and processed for inclusion in the modeling analysis.  
 
Another critical component of this model will be the boundary elevations. The stormwater system discharges via 
gravity to the Willow Run drain. The Willow Run drain has a dam immediately downstream of the Beyer Relief 
discharge point that will likely be the most critical conveyance component of this system. Since the dam will control 
the system’s ability to drain, a reliable stream of data at the boundary will be necessary to effectively calibrate the 
model. Through discussions, OHM has identified that a level sensor is in operation at the adjacent dam structure, 
but the duration of deployment, sensor accuracy, and sensor consistency are unknowns. OHM proposes to install a 



Recipient Name 
Select a date  
Page 4 of 8 
 

OHM Advisors® 
355 SOUTH ZEEB ROAD, SUITE A 
ANN ARBOR, MICHIGAN 48103 

T 734.522.6711 
F 734.522.6427 OHM-Advisors.com 

 
 

cost effective Hyfi level sensor in tandem with the existing sensor to provide reliable data redundancy so that this 
critical model component is captured.  
 
The full list of data needs to be collected under this task include:  

1. Collect the critical missing field asset data and upload the information into the online geodatabase. Scoped 
as two weeks of time for a two-person field crew to collect missing data. More time may be necessary but 
will be agreed upon with WCWRC as additional as-needed services in advance of collecting more data.  

2. Perform a desktop analysis to identify locations to install a flow meter for model calibration and 
validation. 

3. Install a flow meter with a confined space crew at the agreed upon locations with WCWRC. 
4. Deploy a Hyfi level sensors to provide boundary condition data at the outlet of each stormwater network. 
5. Compile and analyze collected field data from inspections, flow meters, and level sensors and summarize 

the findings in a technical memorandum.  
 
Deliverables 
 Flow meter data 
 Hyfi level sensor data 
 Shapefiles for collected assets 

 
Task 5 – HYDROLOGIC AND HYDRAULIC MODEL DEVELOPMENT   
Upon completion of the data gathering, the OHM project team will use the body of evidence from observed and 
historic conditions, system connectivity and asset inventory data to prepare a hydrologic and hydraulic model of the 
project study area. This phase of the project will evaluate the functionality of the existing collection system and 
ultimately identify root causes of system deficiencies that will lead to developed improvement alternatives to help 
mitigate flooding.  
 
To address the flooding issues from the large storm events for the West Willow neighborhood and adjacent 
communities, the models will need to consider flows that are handled by stormwater pipes as well as surface flow 
paths over land. Therefore, the proposed modeling approach will apply a dual drainage setup to model both pipe 
network flow as well as overland flow across major roadways. Our approach will apply the models to fit the problem 
and support development of cost-effective solutions to manage flows and protect properties. Specific work efforts 
under this task include: 

1. Develop a H&H model using collected data that simulate drainage of the Beyer Relief Drain network.  
2. Calibrate the model and validate performance against collected flow data. 
3. Evaluate model performance during the August 24, 2023 event and identify the root causes of flooding. 
4. Quantify the existing level of service criteria by simulating a range of five model storm events (5-, 10-, 25-, 

50-, and 100- year events). 
5. Hold a modeling to discuss results for both the Beyer Relief and West Willow stormwater management 

studies. A meeting will be held with WCWRC to discuss findings, suspected root causes of flooding, and 
agree upon a target level of service criteria based on community feedback. (Assumes one meeting with the 
associated costs being split between both studies). 

6. Write a model development technical memorandum that summarizes the model development process, 
assumptions made, and calibration results. 

 
Deliverables 
 A H&H model of the Beyer Relief Drain  
 Model results and root cause analysis meeting slides 
 Model development and root cause analysis technical memorandum 



Recipient Name 
Select a date  
Page 5 of 8 
 

OHM Advisors® 
355 SOUTH ZEEB ROAD, SUITE A 
ANN ARBOR, MICHIGAN 48103 

T 734.522.6711 
F 734.522.6427 OHM-Advisors.com 

 
 

Task 6 – SYSTEM ALTERNATIVES ANALYSIS 
Under this task, OHM will identify alternatives that improve the existing system’s functionality and minimize surface 
flooding that can exacerbate basement backup issues. Using the identified root causes, a set of alternatives will be 
identified based on cost and available land for the proposed improvements. Alternatives could include surface 
detention, inline detention, pipe upsizing, flow relief lines, or other yet unidentified solutions. An alternatives analysis 
kickoff meeting will be held with WCWRC to discuss potential alternatives, define objectives, and agree on a level 
of service target.  
 
Specific work efforts are as follows: 

1. Hold an alternatives analysis kickoff meeting with WCWRC to discuss viable solutions. 
2. Identify a range of alternatives that provide benefits to flooding for the stormwater network. 
3. Select and model three stormwater conveyance alternatives to improve stormwater conveyance and reduce 

flooding in the network. 
4. Manually tune the performance of each proposed alternative and select a final proposed configuration. 
5. Test the performance of each proposed alternative against baseline conditions using the selected level of 

service criteria storm event.  
 
Deliverables 
 Kickoff meeting agenda and minutes 
 
Task 7 – TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM 
Under this task, OHM will compile the modeling results and recommended alternatives into a technical 
memorandum. OHM will prepare a preliminary opinion of probable cost for each of the recommended projects and 
present a recommended implementation timeline if multiple projects are recommended that will provide the greatest 
benefit to the public. The final technical memorandum will be developed to include all seven of the primary project 
tasks and will be submitted to WCWRC. Specific work efforts under this task are as follows: 

1. Conceptual cost estimates for each selected alternative solution. 
2. Develop a draft technical report to summarize the study approach and findings.  
3. Revise and finalize the report based on feedback from stakeholder staff. 

 
Deliverables 
 An engineer’s opinion of probable construction costs 
 Draft technical memorandum summarizing study results 
 Final technical memorandum summarizing study results  
 
Task 8 – OPTIONAL MODEL OPTIMIZATION ANALYSIS 
As an optional add on service, OHM can perform an alternatives optimization modeling analysis. This task would 
supplement Task 6 above and take the analysis a step further to optimize the cost and performance of a wider range 
of potential alternatives. For any project, capitol cost needs to be balanced with the benefits gained. Spending more 
money on stormwater projects will result in improved performance, but typically with a diminishing benefit as more 
dollars are invested. OHM has developed a proprietary optimization tool that utilizes AI to test hundreds of potential 
solutions and identify an optimized set of cost-effective alternative combinations. These solutions would be near 
impossible to determine manually and identify the projects with the greatest benefit for the dollars invested. OHM 
has found that by performing this analysis, the cost of CIP implementation can be greatly reduced and result in 
significant cost savings for the client and the community. The top three identified alternative solutions will be 
presented to WCWRC in an optimized alternatives meeting to determine the ideal plan to progress to next steps. 
For the selected alternative plan, a prioritized CIP implementation timeline will be developed to suggest an order of 
project implementation that will have the greatest immediate benefit to the impacted community. Results from this 
analysis will be incorporated into the final report outlined in Task 7 above. Specific work efforts under this task are 
as follows:   



Recipient Name 
Select a date  
Page 6 of 8 
 

OHM Advisors® 
355 SOUTH ZEEB ROAD, SUITE A 
ANN ARBOR, MICHIGAN 48103 

T 734.522.6711 
F 734.522.6427 OHM-Advisors.com 

 
 

1. Hold an optimization kickoff meeting with WCWRC to define objectives and select the performance.  
metrics. 

2. Develop cost curves for the agreed upon alternatives to be applied during model optimization. 
3. Run a model optimization analysis to identify a set of three alternative plans for each network that best 

match the defined project objectives. 
4. Present the optimization analysis findings in an optimization meeting and select a single optimized 

solution for the network based on cost and implementability. 
5. An implementation timeline will be developed to help with future CIP planning. Projects that provide the 

greatest benefit for the dollars spent will be prioritized in the timeline.  
 

Deliverables 
 Table of preliminary alternatives and the associated cost curves 
 Meeting minutes for model optimization meeting 
 Slides from optimized alternative plan meeting 
 Implementation timeline figures for CIP planning 
 
Task 9 – ADDITIOANL AS-NEEDED SERVICES 
Additional as-needed items may arise during the progression of this project, which were not anticipated at the time 
this proposal was prepared.  These efforts will not be completed until written authorization has been provided by 
WCWRC agreeing to the extra work and the budget allowance for this task will not be used without 
advanced authorization from WCWRC. OHM will prepare a Scope of Services and a budget for each item for 
approval by WCWRC before proceeding. These efforts may include: 
 
 Additional field data collection beyond the anticipated one week. 
 Additional community engagement activities or meetings beyond the four scoped public meetings  
 Additional coordination meetings not outlined in this scope 
 
Schedule 

The following table outlines the task durations for major project milestones: 
 

TASK 
TASK DURATION 

(DATES) 

Task 1 – Project Management and Facilitation January 2024 – December 2024 

Task 2 – Public Engagement and Communication January 2024 – December 2024 

Task 3 – Background Investigation January 2024 – March 2024 

Task 4 – Field Data Collection and Compilation March 2024 – May 2024 

Task 5 – Hydrologic and Hydraulic Model Development  May 2024 – August 2024 

Task 6 – System Alternative Analysis   September 2024 – October 2024 

Task 7 – Technical Memorandum November 2024 – January 2025 

Task 8 – Optional Model Optimization Analysis  September 2024 – November 2024 

 
Potential schedule related items that may impact task durations are as follows: 
 Public meeting time availability 
 Data availability 
 Client availability for milestone coordination meetings 

 
We are prepared to commence work on this project on January 1st upon receipt of your written authorization to 
proceed. 
 



Recipient Name 
Select a date  
Page 7 of 8 
 

OHM Advisors® 
355 SOUTH ZEEB ROAD, SUITE A 
ANN ARBOR, MICHIGAN 48103 

T 734.522.6711 
F 734.522.6427 OHM-Advisors.com 

 
 

Compensation 

OHM Advisors will provide the above-outlined professional services in accordance with the following fee 
schedule.  Our professional services will be performed on an hourly basis not to exceed the listed cost. Any 
requested work beyond this fee must be approved by CLIENT NAME prior to proceeding. 
 

Task Cost 

Task 1 – Project Management and Facilitation $27,000 

Task 2 – Public Engagement and Communication $35,500 

Task 3 – Background Investigation $21,500 

Task 4 – Field Data Collection and Compilation $33,000 

Task 5 – Hydrologic and Hydraulic Model Development  $39,000 

Task 6 – System Alternative Analysis   $17,500 

Task 7 – Technical Memorandum $12,000 

Total All Phases  $185,500 

Task 8 – Optional Model Optimization Analysis  $20,000 

 
Clarifications and Assumptions 

Our Proposal was prepared based on the following assumptions: 
 If additional labor effort or change in schedule is required beyond described herein, OHM Advisors will 

negotiate an amendment with WCWRC. OHM Advisors will not proceed with additional services without 
written authorization to proceed from WCWRC. 

 Meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the Scope of Services as described herein. Additional meetings, 
not described within our Scope of Services, shall be considered additional services and will be billed on an hourly 
basis under the Additional As-Needed Services Allowance upon agreement with WCWRC. 

 Final selected alternatives are conceptual and will require further formal design work before implementation can 
begin. 
 

Client Responsibilities 

 
 WCWRC will provide a single point of contact to OHM Advisors who is knowledgeable about the project needs 

and desired outcomes. 
 WCWRC will provide the following, if available, to assist us with the project: prior as-builts and existing plans, 

plat maps, site surveys indicating site boundaries, exiting topography, access to structures, and available asset 
inventory data for the stormwater network. 

 
Authorization and Acceptance 
 
If this proposal is acceptable to you, your signature on this letter with a copy returned to me will serve as our 
authorization to proceed. Upon execution, this Proposal, the Terms & Conditions and the other attachments will 
form our agreement. 
 
Thank you for giving us the opportunity to be of service.  We look forward to working with you on this project. 
This proposal is valid for 30 days If you have any questions or comments, please contact me at 
brandon.ellefson@ohm-advisors.com or 734-466-4491. 



Recipient Name 
Select a date  
Page 8 of 8 
 

OHM Advisors® 
355 SOUTH ZEEB ROAD, SUITE A 
ANN ARBOR, MICHIGAN 48103 

T 734.522.6711 
F 734.522.6427 OHM-Advisors.com 

 
 

Sincerely,      Acceptance  
OHM Advisors      WCWRC 
 
 

 
_______________________________  11/13/2023 _______________________________ __________ 
Matthew D. Parks, PE, Principal            Date  Mr. Evan Pratt, P.E.                                 Date 
OHM Advisors 
 
 
 
Attachments: Appendix A: Network Delineation Map 

Standard Terms and Conditions 
  Standard Rate Schedule 
 
cc: Brandon Ellefson, P.E., OHM Advisors 
 



Beyer Relief 
(~1000 Acres)

Ypsilanti Township 
#01 (~350 acres)



OHM ADVISORS  
2023 HOURLY RATE SCHEDULE

Rates as reflected subject to review and adjustment on an annual basis.
2023 Public Rates 22-1118

Professional Engineer IV / Architect IV / Senior Interior Designer IV $195.00

Professional Engineer III / Architect III / Senior Interior Designer III $178.00

Professional Engineer II / Architect II / Senior Interior Designer II $162.00

Professional Engineer I / Architect I / Senior Interior Designer I $152.00

Project Specialist III $180.00

Project Specialist II $160.00

Project Specialist I $135.00

Graduate Engineer IV $153.00

Graduate Engineer III $145.00

Graduate Engineer II $140.00

Graduate Engineer I $130.00

Graduate Architect III / Landscape Architect III / Interior Designer III $140.00

Graduate Architect II / Landscape Architect II / Interior Designer II $122.00

Graduate Architect I / Landscape Architect I / Interior Designer I $115.00

Technician IV $148.00

Technician III $130.00

Technician II $115.00

Technician I $96.00

Engineering / Architectural / Interior Design Aide $75.00

Professional Surveyor III $170.00

Professional Surveyor II $158.00

Professional Surveyor I $142.00

Graduate Surveyor $128.00

Surveyor III $130.00

Surveyor II $115.00

Surveyor I $100.00

Surveyor Aide $75.00

Planner IV $163.00

Planner III $150.00

Planner II $127.00

Planner I $110.00

Planner Aide $72.00

Graphic Designer $120.00

Administrative Support $90.00

Clerical Aide $75.00

Principal $230.00

Sr. Associate $210.00

Associate $198.00



 
TERMS & CONDITIONS 

 

Michigan Terms & Conditions Page 1 of 2  March 11, 2021 

1. THE AGREEMENT. These Terms and Conditions and the 
attached Proposal or Scope of Services, upon acceptance by 
CLIENT, shall constitute the entire Agreement between Orchard, 
Hiltz & McCliment, Inc. (OHM ADVISORS), a registered 
Michigan Corporation, and CLIENT. OHM ADVISORS and 
CLIENT may be referred to individually as a Party or collectively 
as Parties. This Agreement supersedes all prior negotiations or 
agreements and may be amended only by written agreement signed 
by both Parties. 

 
2. CLIENT RESPONSIBILITIES. CLIENT, at no cost, shall:  

a. Provide access to the project site to allow timely performance 
of the services.  

b. Provide all information in CLIENT’S possession as required by 
OHM ADVISORS to perform the services. 

c. Designate a person to act as CLIENT’S representative who shall 
transmit instructions, receive information, define CLIENT 
policies, and have the authority to make decisions related to 
services under this Agreement.  

 
3. PROJECT INFORMATION. OHM ADVISORS shall be entitled 

to rely on the accuracy and completeness of services and 
information furnished by CLIENT, other design professionals, or 
consultants contracted directly to CLIENT.  

 
4. PERIOD OF SERVICE. The services shall be completed within 

the time specified in the Proposal or Scope of Services, or if no time 
is specified, within a reasonable amount of time. OHM ADVISORS 
shall not be liable to CLIENT for any loss or damage arising out of 
any failure or delay in rendering services pursuant to this Agreement 
that arise out of circumstances that are beyond the control of OHM 
ADVISORS. 

 
5. COMPENSATION. CLIENT shall pay OHM ADVISORS for 

services performed in accordance with the method of payment, as 
stated in the Proposal or Scope of Services. CLIENT shall pay 
OHM ADVISORS for reimbursable expenses for subconsultant 
services, equipment rental, or other special project related items at 
a rate of 1.15 times the invoice amount. 

 
6. TERMS OF PAYMENT. Invoices shall be submitted to the 

CLIENT each month for services performed during the preceding 
period.  CLIENT shall pay the full amount of the invoice within 
thirty days of the invoice date. If payment is not made within thirty 
days, the amount due to OHM ADVISORS shall include a service 
fee at the rate of one (1%) percent per month from said thirtieth 
day. 

 
7. STANDARD OF CARE. OHM ADVISORS shall perform their 

services under this Agreement in a manner consistent with the 
professional skill and care ordinarily provided by similar 
professionals practicing in the same or similar locality under the 
same or similar conditions.  

 
8. RESTRICTION OF REMEDIES. OHM ADVISORS is 

responsible for the work of its employees while they are engaged 
on OHM ADVISORS’ projects.  As such, and in order to minimize 
legal costs and fees related to any dispute, CLIENT agrees to 
restrict any and all remedies it may have by reason of OHM 
ADVISORS’ breach of this Agreement or negligence in the 
performance of services under this Agreement, be they in contract, 
tort, or otherwise, to OHM ADVISORS, and to waive any claims 
against individual employees. 

9. LIMIT OF LIABILITY. To the fullest extent permitted by law, 
CLIENT agrees that, notwithstanding any other provision in this 
Agreement, the total liability in the aggregate, of OHM ADVISORS 
to CLIENT, or anyone claiming under CLIENT, for any claims, 
losses, damages or costs whatsoever arising out of, resulting from, 
or in any way related to this Agreement or the services provided by 
OHM ADVISORS pursuant to this Agreement, be limited to 
$25,000 or OHM ADVISORS fee, whichever is greater, and 
irrespective of whether the claim sounds in breach of contract, tort, 
or otherwise. 

 
10. ASSIGNMENT. Neither Party to this Agreement shall transfer, 

sublet, or assign any duties, rights under or interest in this 
Agreement without the prior written consent of the other Party. 

 
11. NO WAIVER. Failure of either Party to enforce, at anytime, the 

provisions of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of such 
provisions or the right of either Party at any time to avail themselves 
of such remedies as either may have for any breach of such 
provisions. 

 
12. GOVERNING LAW. The laws of the State of Michigan will 

govern the validity of this Agreement, its interpretation and 
performance. 

 
13. INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE. OHM ADVISORS shall retain 

ownership of all reports, drawings, plans, specifications, electronic 
data and files, and other documents (Documents) prepared by 
OHM ADVISORS as Instruments of Service. OHM ADVISORS 
shall retain all common law, statutory and other reserved rights, 
including, without limitation, all copyrights thereto. CLIENT, upon 
payment in full for OHM’s services, shall have an irrevocable 
license to use OHM’s Instruments of Service for or in conjunction 
with repairs, alterations or maintenance to the project involved but 
for no other purpose. CLIENT shall not reuse or make any 
modifications to the Documents without prior written 
authorization by OHM ADVISORS.  In accepting and utilizing any 
Documents or other data on any electronic media provided by 
OHM ADVISORS, CLIENT agrees they will perform acceptance 
tests or procedures on the data within 30 days of receipt of the file.   

 
14. CERTIFICATIONS. OHM ADVISORS shall have 14 days to 

review proposed language prior to the requested dates of execution. 
OHM ADVISORS shall not be required to execute certificates to 
which it has a reasonable objection, or that would require 
knowledge, services, or responsibilities beyond the scope of this 
Agreement, nor shall any certificates be construed as a warranty or 
guarantee by OHM ADVISORS.  

 
15. TERMINATION. Either Party may at any time terminate this 

Agreement upon giving the other Party 7 calendar days prior written 
notice.  CLIENT shall within 45 days of termination pay OHM 
ADVISORS for all services rendered and all costs incurred up to 
the date of termination in accordance with compensation 
provisions in this Agreement. 

 
16. RIGHT TO SUSPEND SERVICES. In the event CLIENT fails to 

pay OHM ADVISORS the amount shown on any invoice within 
45 days of the date of the invoice, OHM ADVISORS may, after 
giving 7 days’ notice to CLIENT, suspend its services until payment 
in full for all services and expenses is received. 

 



Michigan Terms & Conditions Page 2 of 2  March 11, 2021 

17. OPINIONS OF PROBABLE COST. OHM ADVISORS 
preparation of Opinions of Probable Cost represents OHM 
ADVISORS’ best judgment as a design professional familiar with 
the industry.  CLIENT recognizes that OHM ADVISORS has no 
control over costs of labor, equipment, materials, or a contractor’s 
pricing.  OHM ADVISORS makes no warranty, expressed or 
implied, as to the accuracy of such opinions as compared to bid or 
actual cost. 

 
18. JOB SITE SAFETY. Neither the professional activities of OHM 

ADVISORS, nor the presence of OHM ADVISORS or our 
employees and subconsultants at a construction site shall relieve the 
Contractor or any other entity of their obligations, duties, and 
responsibilities including, but not limited to, construction means, 
methods, sequences, techniques or procedures necessary for 
performing, superintending or coordinating all portions of the work 
of construction in accordance with the contract documents and the 
health or safety precautions required by any regulatory agency.  
OHM ADVISORS has no authority to exercise any control over 
any construction contractor or any other entity or their employees 
in connection with their work or any health or safety precautions.  

 
19. CONTRACTOR SUBMITTALS. If included in the services to be 

provided, OHM ADVISORS shall review the contractor’s 
submittals such as shop drawings, product data, and samples for the 
limited purpose of checking for conformance with information 
given and the design concept expressed in the construction 
documents issued by OHM ADVISORS. Review of such 
submittals is not for the purpose of determining the accuracy and 
completeness of other information such as dimensions, quantities, 
and installation or performance of equipment or systems, which are 
the contractor’s responsibility. OHM ADVISORS review shall not 
constitute approval of safety precautions or, unless otherwise 
specifically stated by OHM ADVISORS, of any construction 
means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures. OHM 
ADVISORS approval of a specific item shall not indicate approval 
of an assembly of which the item is a component. 

 
20. CONSTRUCTION OBSERVATION. If requested, OHM 

ADVISORS shall visit the project construction site to generally 
observe the construction work and answer questions that CLIENT 
may have.  OHM ADVISORS shall not be required to make 
exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections to check the quality or 
quantity of the construction work, or to determine whether the 
construction work is being constructed in accordance with the 
Contract Documents.   

 
21. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS. As used in this Agreement, the term 

hazardous materials shall mean any substances, including without 
limitation asbestos, toxic or hazardous waste, PCBs, combustible 
gases and materials, petroleum or radioactive materials (as each of 
these is defined in applicable federal statutes) or any other 
substances under any conditions and in such quantities as would 
pose a substantial danger to persons or property exposed to such 
substances at or near the Project site. Both Parties acknowledge that 
OHM ADVISORS' Scope of Services does not include any services 
related to the presence of any hazardous or toxic materials. In the 
event OHM ADVISORS or any other person or entity involved in 
the project encounters any hazardous or toxic materials, or should 
it become known to OHM ADVISORS that such materials may be 
present on or about the jobsite or any adjacent areas that may affect 
the performance of OHM ADVISORS' services, OHM 

ADVISORS may, at its sole option and without liability for 
consequential or any other damages, suspend performance of its 
services under this Agreement until CLIENT retains appropriate 
qualified consultants and/or contractors to identify and abate or 
remove the hazardous or toxic materials and warrants that the 
jobsite is in full compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. 
CLIENT agrees, notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Agreement, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and 
hold harmless OHM ADVISORS, its officers, partners, employees 
and subconsultants (collectively, OHM ADVISORS) from and 
against any and all claims, suits, demands, liabilities, losses, damages 
or costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees and defense costs 
arising out of or in any way connected with the detection, presence, 
handling, removal, abatement, or disposal of any asbestos or 
hazardous or toxic substances, products or materials that exist on, 
about or adjacent to the Project site, whether liability arises under 
breach of contract or warranty, tort, including negligence, strict 
liability or statutory liability, regulatory or any other cause of action, 
except for the sole negligence or willful misconduct of OHM 
ADVISORS. 

 
22. WAIVER OF CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES. The Parties 

waive consequential damages for claims, disputes or other matters 
in question arising out of or relating to this Agreement. This mutual 
waiver is applicable, without limitation, to all consequential 
damages due to either Party’s termination of this Agreement. 

 
23. WAIVER OF SUBROGATION. The Parties waive all rights 

against each other and any of their contractors, subcontractors, 
consultants, agents, and employees, each of the other, for damages 
caused by fire or other causes of loss to the extent covered by 
property insurance obtained pursuant to a written contract or other 
property insurance applicable to the construction work.   

 
24. THIRD PARTIES. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall 

create a contractual relationship with, or a cause of action in favor 
of, a third party against either CLIENT or OHM ADVISORS. 

 
25. CODE REVIEW/ACCESSIBILITY. In providing its services 

under this Agreement, OHM ADVISORS may have to interpret 
federal and or state laws, codes, ordinances, regulations and/or 
statutes.  CLIENT understands and agrees that these may be 
subject to different and possibly contradictory interpretations by 
relevant governmental officials charged with interpreting same and 
furthermore understands and agrees that OHM ADVISORS does 
not warrant or guarantee that their interpretation will be consistent 
with the interpretation of the relevant governmental officials. OHM 
ADVISORS shall not be liable for unreasonable or unforeseeable 
interpretation of federal and or state laws, codes, ordinances, 
regulations and/or statutes by governmental officials charged with 
interpreting same. 

 
26. DISPUTE RESOLUTION. In an effort to resolve any conflicts 

that arise during the project or following the completion of the 
project, the Parties agree that all disputes between them arising out 
of or relating to this Agreement shall be submitted to nonbinding 
mediation, unless the Parties mutually agree otherwise, as a 
prerequisite to further legal proceedings.  The Parties agree to share 
the mediator’s fee and any filing fees equally, and the mediation 
shall be held in the place where the project is located, unless another 
location is mutually agreed upon.   

 



 
 
 

OHM Advisors® 
355 SOUTH ZEEB ROAD, SUITE A 
ANN ARBOR, MICHIGAN 48103 

T 734.522.6711 
F 734.522.6427 OHM-Advisors.com 

  

November 13, 2023 
 
Mr. Evan Pratt, P.E. 
Water Resources Commissioner    
Washtenaw County Water Resources Commissioner’s Office 
705 North Zeeb Road 
Ann Arbor, MI 48103 
 
  
RE: Proposal for Professional Services 
West Willow Neighborhood Stormwater Management Study 
 
Dear Mr. Pratt: 
 
Thank you for contacting us to provide professional services to the Washtenaw County Water Resources 
Commissioners Office (WCWRC) for the West Willow neighborhood stormwater management study. We have 
prepared this letter proposal based on the information provided and discussions with you and WCWRC staff. This 
proposal represents our understanding of the project, scope of services, schedule and compensation. 
 
Statement of Understanding 

In collaboration with the Ypsilanti Community Utilitiues Authority (YCUA) and the Washtenaw County Road 
Commission (WCRC), your office has identified that a stormwater management study is needed in the West Willow 
neighborhood of Ypsilanti Township. On August 24, 2023, an intense deluge of rain fell over regions in Ypsilanti 
Township that qualified as a 500-year storm event. Over a four-hour period, the neighboring Willow Run Airport 
registered 5.37 inches of rainfall which resulted in infrastructure damage, expansive flooding, and basement backups. 
Residents in the West Willow neighborhood were particularly impacted with widespread reported flooding and 
damage. The Washtenaw County Water Resources Commissioners Office has requested that a stormwater study be 
performed on the Ypsilanti Township #01 Drain (~350 acres). A map that highlights the assumed drainage areas in 
this network is included as attachment A. Due to the age of the system and a number of changes that have happened 
throughout history to modify drainage patterns, a stormwater conveyance model will be necessary to identify the 
root causes of the flooding issues and identify potential solutions. The study will aim to develop a set of stormwater 
management alternatives that can be incorporated into upcoming CIP planning efforts to improve the level of service 
for the impacted community.  
 
A large portion of the Ypsilanti Township #01 Drain is currently owned by the WCRC and has not been digitally 
mapped. As a result, an extensive field evaluation will be necessary to clean, televise, and collect asset data to fill in 
the network data gaps. Coordination with WCRC and vested team members will be necessary throughout this project 
to identify sustainable solutions that will benefit the community as well as the asset owners.  
 
With the projected recurrence of catastrophic storm events on the rise as a result of climate change, planning needs 
to take place now that will address current problems while simultaneously planning for the future needs. The West 
Willow community is still in the process of recovering from this catastrophic event from August 2023 and the scars 
left from the damage are fresh. The community is disadvantaged and has been very vocal about the challenges they 
have faced during recovery. The community is still seeking answers surrounding what happened and they want 
solutions going forward. Proposed solutions will need to consider that catastrophic events may begin to occur on a 
more regular basis into the future. Engagement with the public will be an important and challenging aspect of this 
project but is absolutely critical to the long-term success of potential solutions. The public will need to be made 
aware of ongoing efforts and be informed on root causes and proposed solutions if the project is to be successful.   
 
 



Recipient Name 
Select a date  
Page 2 of 8 
 

OHM Advisors® 
355 SOUTH ZEEB ROAD, SUITE A 
ANN ARBOR, MICHIGAN 48103 

T 734.522.6711 
F 734.522.6427 OHM-Advisors.com 

 
 

Scope of Services 

To address this challenge, OHM is proposing that a stormwater management study be performed that gathers the 
data needed to develop a hydraulic and hydrologic (H&H) model of the target stormwater network. The model will 
be used to identify the root causes of flooding and seek stormwater management solutions that may reduce the 
future flood risk for the West Willow neighborhood. A range of potential solutions along with their associated costs 
will be developed and presented to WCWRC so that stormwater capital improvement projects can be built into 
future planning efforts to address concerns.  
 
Typically, stormwater systems have a level of service criteria close the 10-year storm event. Given that the August 
2023 event registered closer to a 500-year event, it will be important to have an open dialogue with the community 
and appropriately set expectations. There will always be a bigger storm event and designing for a 500-year may not 
be cost feasible. The community will likely demand that stormwater be managed so that this never happens again, 
but CIP costs and available land space will limit the achievable level of service criteria. OHM will help facilitate open 
dialogues with the community to find a balance between affordability and risk that are acceptable to the public.  
 
Task 1 – PROJECT MANAGEMENT AND FACILITATION  
The OHM Advisors project management will be responsible for coordination of scope of service activities internally 
and with stakeholders throughout the progress of the project. The OHM project team will work to regularly 
communicate throughout the duration of the project and deliver the items listed in this proposal. Specific work 
efforts include the following: 

1. Manage scope schedule and budget. 
2. Coordinate project communication and meetings. 
3. Submit and coordinate project invoicing. 
4. Prepare for and attend bi-weekly update meetings with client to update on project progress for both the 

West Willow stormwater study as well as the Beyer Relief drain stormwater study (Assumes 26 total 

meetings with the cost split between both projects). 

Deliverables 
 Kickoff meeting agenda and minutes 
 Information requests 
 Meeting announcements (agendas) and invitations 
 Project presentation materials 
 Invoices 

 
Task 2 – PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND COMMUNICATION 
Meaningful engagement from important stakeholders is critical to the success of any project, and this aspect is 
amplified with the emotionally charged complex context of the flooding issues experienced in the West Willow 
neighborhood. Coordination will be a complex undertaking as the process requires engaging with a diverse set of 
stakeholders, each holding different perspectives and priorities. Addressing these complexities will require initiating 
the process of stakeholder engagement early, to foster a community understanding of the approach, building support 
of collectively defined metrics, and developing trust in the flooding study team. The goal of this task is to develop 
and implement an effective outreach strategy to engage stakeholders and bolster the confidence of the flooding 
analysis and conceptual solutions needed for it to be successful. To complete this task, OHM will be subcontracting 
work for this task out to Nonprofit Network, a firm that is well versed and experienced in communicating and 
soliciting feedback from sensitive issues such as this. Specific work efforts are as follows: 



Recipient Name 
Select a date  
Page 3 of 8 
 

OHM Advisors® 
355 SOUTH ZEEB ROAD, SUITE A 
ANN ARBOR, MICHIGAN 48103 

T 734.522.6711 
F 734.522.6427 OHM-Advisors.com 

 
 

1. Coordinate and manage four community meetings to interact with the public and complete task objectives. 
2. Listen to the concerns of community members and gather relevant information for the study. 
3. Set clear expectations with the public on what the study will be aiming to accomplish. 
4. Report back to the community on project progress and results. 

 
Deliverables 
 Four in person community public engagement meetings 
 Meeting slides and materials developed for communication 
 
Task 3 – BACKGROUND INVESTIGATION 
WCWRC manages its stormwater assets in an asset management database that will be crucial for model development. 
This database along with other available data sets (e.g. as-builts, GIS data, climate data, DEMs) will need to be 
reviewed for the Ypsilanti Township Drain #1 network to identify data gaps. Asset data relating to pipe slopes, 
inverts, ground surface elevations, sizes, and connectivity will be critical to develop a reliable H&H model of these 
systems. Rainfall data will be compiled from the Willow Run Airport and processed for incorporation into the 
models. Relevant data will be compiled in an online GIS geodatabase that will serve both as a future resource and a 
tool to expedite model development and data analytics. Critical missing data will be flagged in the database for 
collection in future field efforts. Specific work efforts are as follows:  

1. Reviewing available as-built files, existing GIS data, and asset inventory data to evaluate data availability as 
it pertains to model development. 

2. Compile historic rainfall data from the Willow Run Airport and process for model incorporation.   
3. Develop an online geodatabase to house critical model data and flag missing data for future collection. 
4. Complete a data gap analysis that summarizes the missing data and identifies the critical information that 

will necessitate further field collection.  
 
Deliverables 
 Data compilation geodatabase 
 Data gap analysis technical memorandum 

 
Task 4 – FIELD DATA COLLECTION AND COMPILATION 
Alternatives are reliant on reliable H&H models that depend on accurate data sets which makes data collection a 
critical phase of the project. Developing the geodatabase and the data gap analysis is the first step of identifying what 
is needed for the model and subsequent alternatives. A crew will utilize the developed geodatabase to collect the 
flagged missing data for incorporation into the H&H model. It is anticipated that two weeks of field survey time will 
be necessary to complete this task, but this time could vary depending on the quantity of missing data. Additional 
field data collection services will be priced separately as an as-needed service and the quantity of field data to be 
collected will be agreed upon between OHM and WCWRC before collection begins. 
 
In order to quantify the model’s predictive accuracy, a flow meter will need to be installed to provide calibration and 
validation data. A targeted location will be selected that drains a large percentage of the collection system. A desktop 
survey will be performed, and a set of possible locations will be identified and provided to WCWRC for review. An 
ideal site will be selected and flow meters will be installed for a period of six months (anticipated April-September). 
Data will be downloaded monthly and processed for inclusion in the modeling analysis.  
 
Another critical component of this model will be the boundary elevations. The Ypsilanti Township Drain #01 travels 
under highway I-94 to the south and ultimately to Ford Lake. Ford Lake levels will be generally stable, but a 
submerged outlet could impact the conveyance capacity of the drain. To effectively evaluate the performance of the 
system, a boundary condition site investigation will help determine how to effectively represent the model boundary 
condition.  
 



Recipient Name 
Select a date  
Page 4 of 8 
 

OHM Advisors® 
355 SOUTH ZEEB ROAD, SUITE A 
ANN ARBOR, MICHIGAN 48103 

T 734.522.6711 
F 734.522.6427 OHM-Advisors.com 

 
 

It was noted in preliminary discussions that a large percentage of the assets in the West Willow neighborhood, south 
of Tyler Road have not been mapped. Utilizing a sewer jet truck and a CCTV crew would be beneficial to WCWRC 
to get a better handle of what assets exist in this region of West Willow. As a part of this scope, OHM will assist 
WCWRC with competitively bidding this sewer jetting and CCTV work out to obtain up to three quotes. Following 
selection, the identified firm will contract directly with WCWRC to provide this set of services separately from this 
study.  
 
The full list of data needs to be collected under this task include:  

1. Collect the critical missing field asset data and upload the information into the online geodatabase. Scoped 
as two weeks of time for a three-person field crew to collect missing data. More time may be necessary but 
will be agreed upon with WCWRC as additional as-needed services in advance of collecting more data.  

2. Perform a desktop analysis to identify locations to install a flow meter for model calibration and 
validation. 

3. Install a flow meter with a confined space crew at the agreed upon locations with WCWRC. 
4. Assist WCWRC with gathering quotes and putting out to bid a request for sewer jetting and CCTV 

services for the West Willow neighborhood, south of Tyler Road.  
5. Compile and analyze collected field data for incorporation into the model. 

 
Deliverables 
 Flow meter data 
 Scope and bid documents for sewer jet and CCTV work 
 Shapefiles for collected assets 

 
Task 5 – HYDROLOGIC AND HYDRAULIC MODEL DEVELOPMENT   
Upon completion of the data gathering, the OHM project team will use the body of evidence from observed and 
historic conditions, system connectivity and asset inventory data to prepare a hydrologic and hydraulic model of the 
project study area. This phase of the project will evaluate the functionality of the existing collection system and 
ultimately identify root causes of system deficiencies that will lead to developed improvement alternatives to help 
mitigate flooding.  
 
To address the flooding issues from the large storm events for the West Willow neighborhood residents, the models 
will need to consider flows that are handled by stormwater pipes as well as surface flow paths over land. Therefore, 
the proposed modeling approach will apply a dual drainage setup to model both pipe network flow as well as 
overland flow across major roadways. Our approach will apply the models to fit the problem and support 
development of cost-effective solutions to manage flows and protect properties. Specific work efforts under this 
task include: 

1. Develop a H&H model using collected data that simulate drainage of the Ypsilanti Township #01 Drain 
network.  

2. Perform QAQC checks during model development and upon completion. 
3. Calibrate the model and validate performance against collected flow data. 
4. Evaluate model performance during the August 24, 2023 event and identify the root causes of flooding. 
5. Quantify the existing level of service criteria by simulating a range of five model storm events (5-, 10-, 25-, 

50-, and 100- year events). 
6. Hold a modeling to discuss results for both the Beyer Relief and West Willow stormwater management 

studies. A meeting will be held with WCWRC to discuss findings, suspected root causes of flooding, and 
agree upon a target level of service criteria based on community feedback (Assumes one meeting with the 
associated costs being split between both studies). 

7. Write a model development technical memorandum that summarizes the model development process, 
assumptions made, and calibration results. 



Recipient Name 
Select a date  
Page 5 of 8 
 

OHM Advisors® 
355 SOUTH ZEEB ROAD, SUITE A 
ANN ARBOR, MICHIGAN 48103 

T 734.522.6711 
F 734.522.6427 OHM-Advisors.com 

 
 

Deliverables 
 A H&H model of the Ypsilanti Township #01 Drain 
 Model results and root cause analysis meeting slides 
 Model development and root cause analysis technical memorandum 
 
Task 6 – SYSTEM ALTERNATIVES ANALYSIS 
Under this task, OHM will identify alternatives that improve the existing system’s functionality and minimize surface 
flooding that can exacerbate basement backup issues. Using the identified root causes, a set of alternatives will be 
identified based on cost and available land for the proposed improvements. Alternatives could include surface 
detention, inline detention, pipe upsizing, flow relief lines, or other yet unidentified solutions. An alternatives analysis 
kickoff meeting will be held with WCWRC to discuss potential alternatives, define objectives, and agree on a level 
of service target.  
 
Specific work efforts are as follows: 

1. Hold an alternatives analysis kickoff meeting with WCWRC to discuss viable solutions. 
2. Identify a range of alternatives that provide benefits to flooding for the stormwater network. 
3. Select and model three stormwater conveyance alternatives to improve stormwater conveyance and reduce 

flooding in the network. 
4. Manually tune the performance of each proposed alternative and select a final proposed configuration. 
5. Test the performance of each proposed alternative against baseline conditions using the selected level of 

service criteria storm event.  
 
Deliverables 
 Kickoff meeting agenda and minutes 
 
Task 7 – TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM 
Under this task, OHM will compile the modeling results and recommended alternatives into a technical 
memorandum. OHM will prepare a preliminary opinion of probable cost for each of the recommended projects and 
present a recommended implementation timeline if multiple projects are recommended that will provide the greatest 
benefit to the public. The final technical memorandum will be developed to include all seven of the primary project 
tasks and will be submitted to WCWRC. Specific work efforts under this task are as follows: 

1. Conceptual cost estimates for each selected alternative solution. 
2. Develop a draft technical report to summarize the study approach and findings.  
3. Revise and finalize the report based on feedback from stakeholder staff. 

 
Deliverables 
 An engineer’s opinion of probable construction costs 
 Draft technical memorandum summarizing study results 
 Final technical memorandum summarizing study results  
 
Task 8 – OPTIONAL MODEL OPTIMIZATION ANALYSIS 
As an optional add on service, OHM can perform an alternatives optimization modeling analysis. This task would 
supplement Task 6 above and take the analysis a step further to optimize the cost and performance of a wider range 
of potential alternatives. For any project, capitol cost needs to be balanced with the benefits gained. Spending more 
money on stormwater projects will result in improved performance, but typically with a diminishing benefit as more 
dollars are invested. OHM has developed a proprietary optimization tool that utilizes AI to test hundreds of potential 
solutions and identify an optimized set of cost-effective alternative combinations. These solutions would be near 
impossible to determine manually and identify the projects with the greatest benefit for the dollars invested. OHM 
has found that by performing this analysis, the cost of CIP implementation can be greatly reduced and result in 
significant cost savings for the client and the community. The top three identified alternative solutions will be 



Recipient Name 
Select a date  
Page 6 of 8 
 

OHM Advisors® 
355 SOUTH ZEEB ROAD, SUITE A 
ANN ARBOR, MICHIGAN 48103 

T 734.522.6711 
F 734.522.6427 OHM-Advisors.com 

 
 

presented to WCWRC in an optimized alternatives meeting to determine the ideal plan to progress to next steps. 
For the selected alternative plan, a prioritized CIP implementation timeline will be developed to suggest an order of 
project implementation that will have the greatest immediate benefit to the impacted community. Results from this 
analysis will be incorporated into the final report outlined in Task 7 above. Specific work efforts under this task are 
as follows:   

1. Hold an optimization kickoff meeting with WCWRC to define objectives and select the performance.  
metrics. 

2. Develop cost curves for the agreed upon alternatives to be applied during model optimization. 
3. Run a model optimization analysis to identify a set of three alternative plans for each network that best 

match the defined project objectives. 
4. Present the optimization analysis findings in an optimization meeting and select a single optimized 

solution for the network based on cost and implementability. 
5. An implementation timeline will be developed to help with future CIP planning. Projects that provide the 

greatest benefit for the dollars spent will be prioritized in the timeline.  
 

Deliverables 
 Table of preliminary alternatives and the associated cost curves 
 Meeting minutes for model optimization meeting 
 Slides from optimized alternative plan meeting 
 Implementation timeline figures for CIP planning 
 
Task 9 – ADDITIOANL AS-NEEDED SERVICES 
Additional as-needed items may arise during the progression of this project, which were not anticipated at the time 
this proposal was prepared.  These efforts will not be completed until written authorization has been provided by 
WCWRC agreeing to the extra work and the budget allowance for this task will not be used without 
advanced authorization from WCWRC. OHM will prepare a Scope of Services and a budget for each item for 
approval by WCWRC before proceeding. These efforts may include: 
 
 Additional field data collection beyond the anticipated two weeks. 
 Additional community engagement activities or meetings beyond the four scoped public meetings  
 Additional coordination meetings not outlined in this scope 
 
Schedule 

The following table outlines the task durations for major project milestones: 
 

TASK 
TASK DURATION 

(DATES) 

Task 1 – Project Management and Facilitation January 2024 – December 2024 

Task 2 – Public Engagement and Communication January 2024 – December 2024 

Task 3 – Background Investigation January 2024 – March 2024 

Task 4 – Field Data Collection and Compilation March 2024 – May 2024 

Task 5 – Hydrologic and Hydraulic Model Development  May 2024 – August 2024 

Task 6 – System Alternative Analysis   September 2024 – October 2024 

Task 7 – Technical Memorandum November 2024 – January 2025 

Task 8 – Optional Model Optimization Analysis  September 2024 – November 2024 

 
 
 
 



Recipient Name 
Select a date  
Page 7 of 8 
 

OHM Advisors® 
355 SOUTH ZEEB ROAD, SUITE A 
ANN ARBOR, MICHIGAN 48103 

T 734.522.6711 
F 734.522.6427 OHM-Advisors.com 

 
 

Potential schedule related items that may impact task durations are as follows: 
 Public meeting time availability 
 Data availability 
 Client availability for milestone coordination meetings 

 
We are prepared to commence work on this project on January 1st upon receipt of your written authorization to 
proceed. 
 
Compensation 

OHM Advisors will provide the above-outlined professional services in accordance with the following fee 
schedule.  Our professional services will be performed on an hourly basis not to exceed the listed cost. Any 
requested work beyond this fee must be approved by CLIENT NAME prior to proceeding. 
 

Task Cost 

Task 1 – Project Management and Facilitation $27,000 

Task 2 – Public Engagement and Communication $35,500 

Task 3 – Background Investigation $18,500 

Task 4 – Field Data Collection and Compilation $60,000 

Task 5 – Hydrologic and Hydraulic Model Development  $34,000 

Task 6 – System Alternative Analysis   $17,500 

Task 7 – Technical Memorandum $12,000 

Total All Phases  $204,500 

Task 8 – Optional Model Optimization Analysis  $20,000 

 
Clarifications and Assumptions 

Our Proposal was prepared based on the following assumptions: 
 If additional labor effort or change in schedule is required beyond described herein, OHM Advisors will 

negotiate an amendment with WCWRC. OHM Advisors will not proceed with additional services without 
written authorization to proceed from WCWRC. 

 Meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the Scope of Services as described herein. Additional meetings, 
not described within our Scope of Services, shall be considered additional services and will be billed on an hourly 
basis under the Additional As-Needed Services Allowance upon agreement with WCWRC. 

 Final selected alternatives are conceptual and will require further formal design work before implementation can 
begin. 
 

Client Responsibilities 

 
 WCWRC will provide a single point of contact to OHM Advisors who is knowledgeable about the project needs 

and desired outcomes. 
 WCWRC will provide the following, if available, to assist us with the project: prior as-builts and existing plans, 

plat maps, site surveys indicating site boundaries, exiting topography, access to structures, and available asset 
inventory data for the stormwater network. 
 



Recipient Name 
Select a date  
Page 8 of 8 
 

OHM Advisors® 
355 SOUTH ZEEB ROAD, SUITE A 
ANN ARBOR, MICHIGAN 48103 

T 734.522.6711 
F 734.522.6427 OHM-Advisors.com 

 
 

Additional Services  
 
The following services are not included in our Compensation but may be desired.  Fees for these services can be 
negotiated later if deemed necessary.  Additional services that may be needed are as follows: 

 
 Review of CCTV footage collected within the West Willow neighborhood by the selected subcontractor. 
 
Authorization and Acceptance 
 
If this proposal is acceptable to you, your signature on this letter with a copy returned to me will serve as our 
authorization to proceed. Upon execution, this Proposal, the Terms & Conditions and the other attachments will 
form our agreement. 
 
Thank you for giving us the opportunity to be of service.  We look forward to working with you on this project. 
This proposal is valid for 30 days If you have any questions or comments, please contact me at 
brandon.ellefson@ohm-advisors.com or 734-466-4491. 
 
Sincerely,      Acceptance  
OHM Advisors      WCWRC 
 
 

 
_______________________________  11/13/2023 _______________________________ __________ 
Matthew D. Parks, PE, Principal            Date  Mr. Evan Pratt, P.E.                                 Date 
OHM Advisors 
 
 
 
Attachments: Appendix A: Network Delineation Map 

Standard Terms and Conditions 
  Standard Rate Schedule 
 
cc: Brandon Ellefson, P.E., OHM Advisors 
 



Beyer Relief 
(~1000 Acres)

Ypsilanti Township 
#01 (~350 acres)



OHM ADVISORS  
2023 HOURLY RATE SCHEDULE

Rates as reflected subject to review and adjustment on an annual basis.
2023 Public Rates 22-1118

Professional Engineer IV / Architect IV / Senior Interior Designer IV $195.00

Professional Engineer III / Architect III / Senior Interior Designer III $178.00

Professional Engineer II / Architect II / Senior Interior Designer II $162.00

Professional Engineer I / Architect I / Senior Interior Designer I $152.00

Project Specialist III $180.00

Project Specialist II $160.00

Project Specialist I $135.00

Graduate Engineer IV $153.00

Graduate Engineer III $145.00

Graduate Engineer II $140.00

Graduate Engineer I $130.00

Graduate Architect III / Landscape Architect III / Interior Designer III $140.00

Graduate Architect II / Landscape Architect II / Interior Designer II $122.00

Graduate Architect I / Landscape Architect I / Interior Designer I $115.00

Technician IV $148.00

Technician III $130.00

Technician II $115.00

Technician I $96.00

Engineering / Architectural / Interior Design Aide $75.00

Professional Surveyor III $170.00

Professional Surveyor II $158.00

Professional Surveyor I $142.00

Graduate Surveyor $128.00

Surveyor III $130.00

Surveyor II $115.00

Surveyor I $100.00

Surveyor Aide $75.00

Planner IV $163.00

Planner III $150.00

Planner II $127.00

Planner I $110.00

Planner Aide $72.00

Graphic Designer $120.00

Administrative Support $90.00

Clerical Aide $75.00

Principal $230.00

Sr. Associate $210.00

Associate $198.00



 
TERMS & CONDITIONS 

 

Michigan Terms & Conditions Page 1 of 2  March 11, 2021 

1. THE AGREEMENT. These Terms and Conditions and the 
attached Proposal or Scope of Services, upon acceptance by 
CLIENT, shall constitute the entire Agreement between Orchard, 
Hiltz & McCliment, Inc. (OHM ADVISORS), a registered 
Michigan Corporation, and CLIENT. OHM ADVISORS and 
CLIENT may be referred to individually as a Party or collectively 
as Parties. This Agreement supersedes all prior negotiations or 
agreements and may be amended only by written agreement signed 
by both Parties. 

 
2. CLIENT RESPONSIBILITIES. CLIENT, at no cost, shall:  

a. Provide access to the project site to allow timely performance 
of the services.  

b. Provide all information in CLIENT’S possession as required by 
OHM ADVISORS to perform the services. 

c. Designate a person to act as CLIENT’S representative who shall 
transmit instructions, receive information, define CLIENT 
policies, and have the authority to make decisions related to 
services under this Agreement.  

 
3. PROJECT INFORMATION. OHM ADVISORS shall be entitled 

to rely on the accuracy and completeness of services and 
information furnished by CLIENT, other design professionals, or 
consultants contracted directly to CLIENT.  

 
4. PERIOD OF SERVICE. The services shall be completed within 

the time specified in the Proposal or Scope of Services, or if no time 
is specified, within a reasonable amount of time. OHM ADVISORS 
shall not be liable to CLIENT for any loss or damage arising out of 
any failure or delay in rendering services pursuant to this Agreement 
that arise out of circumstances that are beyond the control of OHM 
ADVISORS. 

 
5. COMPENSATION. CLIENT shall pay OHM ADVISORS for 

services performed in accordance with the method of payment, as 
stated in the Proposal or Scope of Services. CLIENT shall pay 
OHM ADVISORS for reimbursable expenses for subconsultant 
services, equipment rental, or other special project related items at 
a rate of 1.15 times the invoice amount. 

 
6. TERMS OF PAYMENT. Invoices shall be submitted to the 

CLIENT each month for services performed during the preceding 
period.  CLIENT shall pay the full amount of the invoice within 
thirty days of the invoice date. If payment is not made within thirty 
days, the amount due to OHM ADVISORS shall include a service 
fee at the rate of one (1%) percent per month from said thirtieth 
day. 

 
7. STANDARD OF CARE. OHM ADVISORS shall perform their 

services under this Agreement in a manner consistent with the 
professional skill and care ordinarily provided by similar 
professionals practicing in the same or similar locality under the 
same or similar conditions.  

 
8. RESTRICTION OF REMEDIES. OHM ADVISORS is 

responsible for the work of its employees while they are engaged 
on OHM ADVISORS’ projects.  As such, and in order to minimize 
legal costs and fees related to any dispute, CLIENT agrees to 
restrict any and all remedies it may have by reason of OHM 
ADVISORS’ breach of this Agreement or negligence in the 
performance of services under this Agreement, be they in contract, 
tort, or otherwise, to OHM ADVISORS, and to waive any claims 
against individual employees. 

9. LIMIT OF LIABILITY. To the fullest extent permitted by law, 
CLIENT agrees that, notwithstanding any other provision in this 
Agreement, the total liability in the aggregate, of OHM ADVISORS 
to CLIENT, or anyone claiming under CLIENT, for any claims, 
losses, damages or costs whatsoever arising out of, resulting from, 
or in any way related to this Agreement or the services provided by 
OHM ADVISORS pursuant to this Agreement, be limited to 
$25,000 or OHM ADVISORS fee, whichever is greater, and 
irrespective of whether the claim sounds in breach of contract, tort, 
or otherwise. 

 
10. ASSIGNMENT. Neither Party to this Agreement shall transfer, 

sublet, or assign any duties, rights under or interest in this 
Agreement without the prior written consent of the other Party. 

 
11. NO WAIVER. Failure of either Party to enforce, at anytime, the 

provisions of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of such 
provisions or the right of either Party at any time to avail themselves 
of such remedies as either may have for any breach of such 
provisions. 

 
12. GOVERNING LAW. The laws of the State of Michigan will 

govern the validity of this Agreement, its interpretation and 
performance. 

 
13. INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE. OHM ADVISORS shall retain 

ownership of all reports, drawings, plans, specifications, electronic 
data and files, and other documents (Documents) prepared by 
OHM ADVISORS as Instruments of Service. OHM ADVISORS 
shall retain all common law, statutory and other reserved rights, 
including, without limitation, all copyrights thereto. CLIENT, upon 
payment in full for OHM’s services, shall have an irrevocable 
license to use OHM’s Instruments of Service for or in conjunction 
with repairs, alterations or maintenance to the project involved but 
for no other purpose. CLIENT shall not reuse or make any 
modifications to the Documents without prior written 
authorization by OHM ADVISORS.  In accepting and utilizing any 
Documents or other data on any electronic media provided by 
OHM ADVISORS, CLIENT agrees they will perform acceptance 
tests or procedures on the data within 30 days of receipt of the file.   

 
14. CERTIFICATIONS. OHM ADVISORS shall have 14 days to 

review proposed language prior to the requested dates of execution. 
OHM ADVISORS shall not be required to execute certificates to 
which it has a reasonable objection, or that would require 
knowledge, services, or responsibilities beyond the scope of this 
Agreement, nor shall any certificates be construed as a warranty or 
guarantee by OHM ADVISORS.  

 
15. TERMINATION. Either Party may at any time terminate this 

Agreement upon giving the other Party 7 calendar days prior written 
notice.  CLIENT shall within 45 days of termination pay OHM 
ADVISORS for all services rendered and all costs incurred up to 
the date of termination in accordance with compensation 
provisions in this Agreement. 

 
16. RIGHT TO SUSPEND SERVICES. In the event CLIENT fails to 

pay OHM ADVISORS the amount shown on any invoice within 
45 days of the date of the invoice, OHM ADVISORS may, after 
giving 7 days’ notice to CLIENT, suspend its services until payment 
in full for all services and expenses is received. 

 



Michigan Terms & Conditions Page 2 of 2  March 11, 2021 

17. OPINIONS OF PROBABLE COST. OHM ADVISORS 
preparation of Opinions of Probable Cost represents OHM 
ADVISORS’ best judgment as a design professional familiar with 
the industry.  CLIENT recognizes that OHM ADVISORS has no 
control over costs of labor, equipment, materials, or a contractor’s 
pricing.  OHM ADVISORS makes no warranty, expressed or 
implied, as to the accuracy of such opinions as compared to bid or 
actual cost. 

 
18. JOB SITE SAFETY. Neither the professional activities of OHM 

ADVISORS, nor the presence of OHM ADVISORS or our 
employees and subconsultants at a construction site shall relieve the 
Contractor or any other entity of their obligations, duties, and 
responsibilities including, but not limited to, construction means, 
methods, sequences, techniques or procedures necessary for 
performing, superintending or coordinating all portions of the work 
of construction in accordance with the contract documents and the 
health or safety precautions required by any regulatory agency.  
OHM ADVISORS has no authority to exercise any control over 
any construction contractor or any other entity or their employees 
in connection with their work or any health or safety precautions.  

 
19. CONTRACTOR SUBMITTALS. If included in the services to be 

provided, OHM ADVISORS shall review the contractor’s 
submittals such as shop drawings, product data, and samples for the 
limited purpose of checking for conformance with information 
given and the design concept expressed in the construction 
documents issued by OHM ADVISORS. Review of such 
submittals is not for the purpose of determining the accuracy and 
completeness of other information such as dimensions, quantities, 
and installation or performance of equipment or systems, which are 
the contractor’s responsibility. OHM ADVISORS review shall not 
constitute approval of safety precautions or, unless otherwise 
specifically stated by OHM ADVISORS, of any construction 
means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures. OHM 
ADVISORS approval of a specific item shall not indicate approval 
of an assembly of which the item is a component. 

 
20. CONSTRUCTION OBSERVATION. If requested, OHM 

ADVISORS shall visit the project construction site to generally 
observe the construction work and answer questions that CLIENT 
may have.  OHM ADVISORS shall not be required to make 
exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections to check the quality or 
quantity of the construction work, or to determine whether the 
construction work is being constructed in accordance with the 
Contract Documents.   

 
21. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS. As used in this Agreement, the term 

hazardous materials shall mean any substances, including without 
limitation asbestos, toxic or hazardous waste, PCBs, combustible 
gases and materials, petroleum or radioactive materials (as each of 
these is defined in applicable federal statutes) or any other 
substances under any conditions and in such quantities as would 
pose a substantial danger to persons or property exposed to such 
substances at or near the Project site. Both Parties acknowledge that 
OHM ADVISORS' Scope of Services does not include any services 
related to the presence of any hazardous or toxic materials. In the 
event OHM ADVISORS or any other person or entity involved in 
the project encounters any hazardous or toxic materials, or should 
it become known to OHM ADVISORS that such materials may be 
present on or about the jobsite or any adjacent areas that may affect 
the performance of OHM ADVISORS' services, OHM 

ADVISORS may, at its sole option and without liability for 
consequential or any other damages, suspend performance of its 
services under this Agreement until CLIENT retains appropriate 
qualified consultants and/or contractors to identify and abate or 
remove the hazardous or toxic materials and warrants that the 
jobsite is in full compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. 
CLIENT agrees, notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Agreement, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and 
hold harmless OHM ADVISORS, its officers, partners, employees 
and subconsultants (collectively, OHM ADVISORS) from and 
against any and all claims, suits, demands, liabilities, losses, damages 
or costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees and defense costs 
arising out of or in any way connected with the detection, presence, 
handling, removal, abatement, or disposal of any asbestos or 
hazardous or toxic substances, products or materials that exist on, 
about or adjacent to the Project site, whether liability arises under 
breach of contract or warranty, tort, including negligence, strict 
liability or statutory liability, regulatory or any other cause of action, 
except for the sole negligence or willful misconduct of OHM 
ADVISORS. 

 
22. WAIVER OF CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES. The Parties 

waive consequential damages for claims, disputes or other matters 
in question arising out of or relating to this Agreement. This mutual 
waiver is applicable, without limitation, to all consequential 
damages due to either Party’s termination of this Agreement. 

 
23. WAIVER OF SUBROGATION. The Parties waive all rights 

against each other and any of their contractors, subcontractors, 
consultants, agents, and employees, each of the other, for damages 
caused by fire or other causes of loss to the extent covered by 
property insurance obtained pursuant to a written contract or other 
property insurance applicable to the construction work.   

 
24. THIRD PARTIES. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall 

create a contractual relationship with, or a cause of action in favor 
of, a third party against either CLIENT or OHM ADVISORS. 

 
25. CODE REVIEW/ACCESSIBILITY. In providing its services 

under this Agreement, OHM ADVISORS may have to interpret 
federal and or state laws, codes, ordinances, regulations and/or 
statutes.  CLIENT understands and agrees that these may be 
subject to different and possibly contradictory interpretations by 
relevant governmental officials charged with interpreting same and 
furthermore understands and agrees that OHM ADVISORS does 
not warrant or guarantee that their interpretation will be consistent 
with the interpretation of the relevant governmental officials. OHM 
ADVISORS shall not be liable for unreasonable or unforeseeable 
interpretation of federal and or state laws, codes, ordinances, 
regulations and/or statutes by governmental officials charged with 
interpreting same. 

 
26. DISPUTE RESOLUTION. In an effort to resolve any conflicts 

that arise during the project or following the completion of the 
project, the Parties agree that all disputes between them arising out 
of or relating to this Agreement shall be submitted to nonbinding 
mediation, unless the Parties mutually agree otherwise, as a 
prerequisite to further legal proceedings.  The Parties agree to share 
the mediator’s fee and any filing fees equally, and the mediation 
shall be held in the place where the project is located, unless another 
location is mutually agreed upon.   

 



 

CONSENT AGENDA 

 

 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE FEBRUARY 6, 2024 REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

Supervisor Brenda Stumbo called the meeting to order at approximately 6:00pm in 
the Ypsilanti Township Civic Center Board Room, 7200 S. Huron River Drive, 
Ypsilanti Township. The Pledge of Allegiance was recited followed by a moment of 
silent prayer. 

Members Present:  Supervisor Brenda Stumbo, Clerk Heather Jarrell Roe, and 
Treasurer Stan Eldridge,  
Trustees: Ryan Hunter, John Newman II, Gloria Peterson, and 
Debbie Swanson  

Members Absent:  None 

Legal Counsel: Wm. Douglas Winters 

CONSENT AGENDA 

Supervisor Stumbo stated the first item on the agenda was from Steve Densmore, 
Fire Chief. 

Steve Densmore, Fire Chief stated that Ryan Williams has successfully completed 
the required one year of Ypsilanti Township Firefighter training and has passed all 
the requirements to be a Firefighter in Ypsilanti Township. Chief Densmore 
presented Mr. Williams with his badge and welcomed him officially to the Ypsilanti 
Township Fire Department. 

A. MINUTES OF THE JANUARY 16, 2024 REGULAR MEETING

B. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS

1. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS FOR FEBRUARY 6, 2024 IN THE AMOUNT OF
$2,349,262.86

A motion was made by Clerk Jarrell Roe and supported by Treasurer Eldridge to 
approve the consent agenda with the corrections and edits to the minutes. 

The motion carried unanimously. 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE FEBRUARY 6, 2024 REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
PAGE 2 

ATTORNEY REPORT 

A. GENERAL LEGAL UPDATE

Attorney Winters stated that the Aldi Inc. agreement was finalized. He said there 
are also other developers that are showing interest in this property formally known 
as the Seaver Farm. 

Attorney Winters stated the company that won the bid to renovate the restrooms 
at Green Oaks Golf Course refused to sign the contract because it stated their 
employees would need to be paid the prevailing wage of fringe benefits. Attorney 
Winters stated this has been a Township Ordinance since 1974. He said since this 
company refused to sign the contract he submitted a claim on their quote and they 
had to submit a check to the Township for $9,900.00. 

NEW BUSINESS 

1. RESOLUTION 2024-02 APPROVING THE CONTRACT AND AUTHORIZATION
NOTICE FOR SUGARBROOK WATERMAIN IMPROVEMENTS

Clerk Jarrell Roe read the resolution into the record. 

A motion was made by Clerk Jarrell Roe and supported by Trustee Swanson to 
approve resolution 20234-02, approving the contract and authorization notice for 
Sugarbrook watermain improvements (see attached). 

Luke Blackburn, Executive Director of YCUA explained the contract and selling of 
bonds for this project. He said they have already submitted the application for 
phase two of the project through the drinking water program but due to 
overburden status and the new scoring criteria Ypsilanti Township does not qualify. 

Supervisor Stumbo stated that Ypsilanti Township does not qualify for the lower 
interest rate. She said they will continue to try and get the change. 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE FEBRUARY 6, 2024 REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
PAGE 3 

Trustee Swanson stated she doesn’t know how this happened but would like to 
know so she would be a better advocate to get the help for Ypsilanti Township. 
Luke Blackburn stated that they use the median annual household income for the 
township not per neighborhood. 

The motion carried unanimously. 

2. REQUEST TO ACCEPT THE RESIGNATION OF HAZELETTE CROSBY FROM THE
CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY

A motion was made by Clerk Jarrell Roe and supported by Treasurer Eldridge to 
approve the request to accept the resignation of Hazelette Crosby from the Civil 
Service Commission effective immediately. 

The motion carried unanimously. 

3. REQUEST TO ACCEPT THE RESIGNATION OF BRAD HINE FROM THE ZONING
BOARD OF APPEALS EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY

A motion was made by Clerk Jarrell Roe and supported by Treasurer Eldridge to 
approve the request to accept the resignation of Brad Hine from the Zoning Board 
of Appeals effective immediately. 

The motion carried unanimously. 

4. REQUEST TO APPROVE FLETCHER REYHER TO THE WASHTENAW AREA
TRANSPORTATION STUDY (WATS) TECHNICAL COMMITTEE AS STAFF
ASSIGNED

A motion was made by Clerk Jarrell Roe and supported by Treasurer Eldridge 
to approve the request to approve Fletcher Reyher to the Washtenaw Area 
Transportation Study (WATS) Technical Committee as staff assigned. 

The motion carried unanimously. 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE FEBRUARY 6, 2024 REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
PAGE 4 

5. REQUEST TO CANCEL THE FEBRUARY 20, 2024 TOWNSHIP BOARD MEETING
DUE TO EARLY VOTING IN THE BOARD ROOM

A motion was made by Clerk Jarrell Roe and supported by Treasurer Eldridge 
to approve the request to cancel the February 20, 2024 Township Board 
meeting due to early voting in the board room. 

The motion carried unanimously. 

6. BUDGET AMENDMENT #2

Clerk Jarrell Roe read Budget Amendment #2 into the record. 

A motion was made by Clerk Jarrell Roe and supported by Treasurer Eldridge to 
approve budget amendment #2 (see attached). 

Supervisor Stumbo stated that part of the amendment is to help with the 
additional costs of projects because bids for many projects have come in higher 
than expected. 

The motion carried unanimously. 

AUTHORIZATIONS AND BIDS 

1. REQUEST TO ACCEPT THE QUOTE FROM EXCEL HOME IMPROVEMENT
INC/WALLSIDE WINDOWS FOR THE COMMUNITY RESOURCE CENTER
RENOVATION IN THE OF $35,071.00 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #101-902-
981-060

A motion was made by Clerk Jarrell Roe and supported by Trustee Hunter to 
approve the request to accept the quote from Excel Home Improvement 
Inc/Wallside Windows for the Community Resource Center renovation in the 
amount of $35,071.00 budgeted in line item #101-902-981-060. 

The motion carried unanimously. 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE FEBRUARY 6, 2024 REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
PAGE 5 

2. REQUEST TO AWARD THE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES CONTRACT FOR
CYBERSECURITY TO SENSCY IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $30,000.00
BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #266-301-818-000

A motion was made by Treasurer Eldridge and supported by Clerk Jarrell Roe to 
approve the request to award the professional services contract for cybersecurity 
to Senscy in an amount not to exceed $30,000.00 budgeted in line item #266-301-
818-000 (see attached).

Treasurer Eldridge thanked Supervisor Stumbo for bringing this idea forward but 
also to IS Manager Travis McDugald and Deputy Supervisor Elizabeth Cuellar for all 
their input in securing this contract with Senscy. He said Senscy is a Michigan based 
company. He said this will help to prevent cybercrime. 

Trustee Swanson stated she was excited about this because it’s not only the elderly 
who have been victims of this. 

Supervisor Stumbo stated she believes this training is of interest to our residents 
and this will be paid for out of the Police Service budget, since cybersecurity is a 
crime. She said this is a one year pilot contract. 

The motion carried unanimously. 

3. REQUEST TO SEEK SEALED BIDS FOR THE RENOVATION OF FIRE STATION #3
LOCATED AT 20 S. HEWITT

A motion was made by Treasurer Eldridge and supported by Trustee Swanson to 
approve the request to seek sealed bids for the renovation of Fire Station #3 
located at 20 S. Hewitt. 

The motion carried unanimously. 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE FEBRUARY 6, 2024 REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
PAGE 6 

4. REQUEST TO ACCEPT THE BID FROM AR BROUWER FOR THE REPAIRS OF
FORD LAKE PARK SHELTERS 1-4 IN THE AMOUNT OF $360,821.00
BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #101-902-981-070 AND THE WEST WILLOW PARK
SHELTER IN THE AMOUNT OF $18,967.00 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #101-
902-981-150 IN THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF $379,788.00 CONTINGENT ON
ATTORNEY APPROVAL

A motion was made by Treasurer Eldridge and supported by Clerk Jarrell Roe to 
approve the bid from AR Brouwer for the repairs of Ford Lake Park Shelters 1-4 in 
the Amount of $360,821.00 budgeted in line item #101-902-981-070 and the West 
Willow Park Shelter in the amount of $18,967.00 budgeted in line item #101-902-
981-150 in the total amount of $379,788.00.

The motion carried unanimously. 

5. REQUEST TO SEEK SEALED BIDS FOR THE REPLACEMENT AND
INSTALLATION OF THE COMMUNITY CENTER HVAC UNITS

A motion was made by Treasurer Eldridge supported by Clerk Jarrell Roe to 
approve the request to seek sealed bids for the replacement and installation of the 
Community Center HVAC units. 

The motion carried unanimously. 

6. REQUEST TO ACCEPT THE LOW BID FROM DECIMA LLC FOR REPAIRS TO THE
COMMUNITY CENTER BATHROOMS IN THE AMOUNT OF $603,792.00
BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #101-902-091-040 AND FOR THE COMMUNITY
CENTER WATER DAMAGE IN THE AMOUNT OF $88,703.00 BUDGETED IN
LINE ITEM #213-901-976-008 IN A TOTAL AMOUNT OF $692,495.00
CONTINGENT OF ATTORNEY APPROVAL

A motion was made by Clerk Jarrell Roe supported by Treasurer Eldridge to 
Approve the request to accept the low bid from Decima LLC for repairs to the 
Community Center bathrooms in the amount of $603,792.00 budgeted in line item 
#101-902-091-040 and for the Community Center water damage in the amount of 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE FEBRUARY 6, 2024 REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
PAGE 7 
 
$88,703.00 budgeted in line item #213-901-976-008 in a total amount of 
$692,495.00. 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 

7. REQUEST TO ACCEPT THE LOW BID FROM AR BROUWER FOR TENNIS 
COURT RENOVATIONS AT CLUBVIEW PARK IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$279,271.25 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #213-901-974-026 AND FOR TENNIS 
COURT RENOVATIONS AT COMMUNITY PARK IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$407,973.46 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #213-901-975-520 FOR A TOTAL 
AMOUNT OF $687,244.71 with Attorney Approval of Contract 

 
A motion was made by Treasurer Eldridge and supported by Clerk Jarrell Roe to 
approve the request to accept the low bid from AR Brouwer for tennis court 
renovations at Clubview Park in the amount of $279,271.25 budgeted in line item 
#213-901-974-926 and for tennis court renovations at Community Center Park in 
the amount of $407,973.46 budgeted in line item #213-901-975-520 for a total 
amount of $687,244.71. 
 
Trustee Swanson suggested signage regarding park usage since neighborhood 
parks do not have the infrastructure that our larger parks have. She said she knows 
parks are for all people but neighborhood parks could not handle large groups. She 
said the parks at Ford Lake and the Community Center have the space to 
accommodate larger groups of people. 
 
Supervisor Stumbo stated she hoped that we would get extra funding since the 
bids have all come in higher than anticipated. 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE FEBRUARY 6, 2024 REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
PAGE 8 
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 

1. REQUEST TO AUTHORIZE THE SUPERVISOR AND CLERK TO SIGN 
PROFESSIONAL PLANNING AND ZONING SERVICE AGREEMENT WITH 
CARLISLE WORTMAN IN THE AMOUNT OF $8,960.00 PER MONTH FOR 
THE REMAINDER OF 2024 CONTINGENT UPON ATTORNEY APPROVAL 

 
A motion was made by Treasurer Eldridge and supported by Trustee Hunter to 
approve the request to authorize the supervisor and clerk to sign the professional 
and zoning service agreement with Carlisle Wortman in the amount of $8,960.00 
per month for the remainder of 2024 contingent upon attorney approval. 
 
Supervisor Stumbo stated that due to the resignation of our Planning Director we 
would like to contract with Carlisle Wortman for services to help the planning 
department so there will not be an interruption of services. She said there would 
not be an increase in the budget for this service since we would not be paying for a 
Planning Director. 
 
Trustee Hunter asked if we hired a new Planning Director before the end of the 
year would the contract end with Carlisle Wortman. Supervisor Stumbo stated that 
the intent is to see how this works until the end of the year. She said that Pittsfield 
Township currently contracts with planning professionals, which is Carlisle 
Wortman. She said it would be a board decision if Ypsilanti Township decides to 
contract instead of hiring a Planning Director in the future. 
 
Attorney Winters stated there were a lot of projects coming up and with Carlisle 
Wortman stepping in it will keep those on track. 
 
Trustee Swanson questioned why our attorney is heavily involved in things and 
wondered why it seems we are not finding things out until after the fact. She said it 
seems like the legal department is trying to catch up. She said she doesn’t think 
that is a good way to do business. Trustee Swanson asked if our attorney goes to 
development meetings. 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE FEBRUARY 6, 2024 REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
PAGE 9 
 
Supervisor Stumbo stated that legal currently goes to development meetings. She 
said Attorney Winters and Attorney McClain work with Carlisle Wortman. 
 
Trustee Swanson would like us to be proactive. She said she wants development 
here but she wants development to follow our master plan. 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
There was one public comment. 
 
BOARD MEMBER UPDATES 
 
Trustee Swanson stated that she was happy about the bids that came through 
today and the work that is being done. She said she was concerned about how long 
it has been for the car port. She stated that we are taking too long to accept a bid 
for the car port. Trustee Swanson stated that anyone who has taken the time to fill 
out a bid should be notified about the status. She said we owe them a yes or no. 
She said she is requesting that we bring the bids forward at the next meeting. 

 
Clerk Jarrell Roe stated that her department receives bids and she provides the 
board with the bids. She said regarding the bid for the car port we did get the bids 
in November. She stated that we have not received an answer from insurance on 
how much they will pay. She said we could vote on the car port, but it needs to be 
brought forward from the correct department and we could proceed from there. 
Clerk Jarrell Roe explained that when there is a bid opening if companies want us 
to provide a bid tab we do. 
 
Trustee Swanson asked about how to find out how much the insurance will pay. 
She said the last time she asked she was told the insurance company was waiting 
on something from us. 
 
Clerk Jarrell Roe stated the bills that we have so far are for engineering and have 
been sent to the insurance company. She said she forwarded the email to the 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE FEBRUARY 6, 2024 REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
PAGE 10 
 
board that she received that stated they had hired their own engineer to make 
sure the specs were correct, and they indicated the timeframe being about two to 
four weeks before we would hear from them. Clerk Jarrell Roe stated she has been 
persistent in asking for updates and said she has shared that with the board. She 
said we can move forward with the carport, but we do not know the exact 
reimbursement we can expect to receive. 
 
Supervisor Stumbo thanked Attorney Winters and Attorney McClain for all their 
negotiations on the selling of Township properties. She said it has been over 
twenty years since we purchased this property hoping to have it developed and 
now it is happening with the sale to ALDI. She said there is also a second potential 
purchaser for township property on Huron St. Supervisor Stumbo stated that the 
dollars from this sale will go toward improvements for Ecorse Rd. and Michigan 
Ave. 
 
Supervisor Stumbo stated they met with the EMU Rowing Team and they want to 
build a submersible rowing course on Ford Lake. She said it would mean there 
would be a lot of competitions, regattas, and even some national tournaments. She 
said they have already received the funding and are ready to proceed. 
 
A motion to adjourn was made by Treasurer Eldridge and supported by Clerk Jarrell 
Roe.  
 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at approximately 7:31 PM. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
 
Brenda L. Stumbo, Supervisor                  Heather Jarrell Roe, Clerk 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti                  Charter Township of Ypsilanti 



Miller, Canfield, Paddock and Stone, P.L.C. 

RESOLUTION 2024-02 

APPROVING CONTRACT  
AND AUTHORIZING NOTICE 

(Sugarbrook Watermain Improvements) 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
County of Washtenaw, State of Michigan 

____________________________________________ 

WHEREAS, it is necessary to acquire and construct certain improvements to the water 
supply system, consisting of the acquisition, construction and installation of improvements in the 
Sugarbrook neighborhood in the Township, including installation of new water mains and 
connectors, together with all necessary appurtenances and attachments thereto (the 
“Improvements”); and 

WHEREAS, a Contract has been prepared between the Township and the Ypsilanti 
Community Utilities Authority (the “Authority”) whereby the Authority will issue its bonds (the 
“Bonds”) on behalf of the Township to provide for the financing of the Township’s share of the 
cost of the acquisition, construction and installation of the Improvements; and 

WHEREAS, this Governing Body has carefully reviewed the Contract and finds that it 
provides the best means for accomplishing the acquisition and construction of the Improvements 
and for providing the needed services; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, THAT: 

1. Approval of Contract; Effectiveness.  The Contract is hereby approved and the
Supervisor and the Township Clerk of the Township are hereby authorized and directed to execute 
and deliver the Contract for and on behalf of the Township; provided, however, that the Contract 
shall not become effective until the expiration of forty-five (45) days after the publication of the 
attached notice as a display advertisement of at least ¼ page in size in the Washtenaw Legal 
News, a newspaper of general circulation within the Township, which manner of publication is 
deemed by the Governing Body to be the most effective manner of informing the taxpayers and 
electors of the Township of the details of the proposed Contract and the rights of referendum 
thereunder. 

2. Publication of Notice.  The Clerk is directed to publish the attached notice in the
newspaper above designated as soon as possible after the adoption hereof. 

3. Reimbursement Declarations.  The Township makes the following declarations for
the purpose of complying with the reimbursement rules of Treas. Reg. § 1.150-2 pursuant to the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended: 

(a) As of the date hereof, the Township reasonably expects to reimburse
itself for the expenditures described in (b) below with proceeds of
debt to be incurred by the Authority or the Township.

(b) The expenditures described in this paragraph (b) are for the costs of
acquiring and constructing the Improvements which were or will be
paid subsequent to sixty (60) days prior to the date hereof.

(c) The maximum principal amount of debt expected to be issued for
the Improvements, including issuance costs, shall not exceed
$5,000,000.



 

Miller, Canfield, Paddock and Stone, P.L.C. 
2 

 
 
 
4. Rescission.  All resolutions and parts of resolutions in conflict with this resolution 

are hereby repealed. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

I, Heather Jarrell Roe, Clerk of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, County of Washtenaw, State of 

Michigan hereby certify the above resolution is a true and exact copy of Resolution No. 2024-02 approved by 

the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, Board of Trustees assembled at a Regular Meeting held on February 6, 2024.  

 

 

Heather Jarrell Roe, Clerk                                                                   

              Charter Township of Ypsilanti  

 
 



 

Miller, Canfield, Paddock and Stone, P.L.C. 
3 

NOTICE OF INTENT TO EXECUTE 
TAX-SUPPORTED CONTRACT AND OF RIGHT TO 

PETITION FOR REFERENDUM THEREON 
 
TO THE TAXPAYERS AND ELECTORS OF 
THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI, 
WASHTENAW COUNTY, MICHIGAN: 
 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, the Charter Township of Ypsilanti (the “Township”) has approved by 
resolution the execution of a contract (the “Contract”) with the Ypsilanti Community Utilities Authority (the 
“Authority”) pursuant to Act No. 233, Public Acts of Michigan, 1955, as amended, which Contract provides, 
among other things, that the Authority will acquire and construct certain water supply system improvements, 
consisting of the acquisition, construction and installation of improvements in the Sugarbrook neighborhood in 
the Township, including installation of new water mains and connectors, together with all necessary 
appurtenances and attachments thereto, to serve the Township and will issue its bonds in the principal amount 
of not to exceed $5,000,000 to finance the cost of such improvements for the Township AND THE TOWNSHIP 
WILL PAY TO THE AUTHORITY PURSUANT TO THE CONTRACT THE SUMS NECESSARY TO 
RETIRE THE PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST ON SAID BONDS. 
 

TOWNSHIP’S CONTRACT OBLIGATIONS 
 

It is presently contemplated that said bonds will be in the principal amount of not to exceed $5,000,000, 
will payable in not more than twenty (20) annual installments, and will bear interest at the rate or rates to be 
determined at the time of sale but in no event to exceed the maximum rate of interest per annum permitted by 
law on the balance of the bonds from time to time remaining unpaid.  The Contract includes the Township’s 
pledge of its limited tax full faith and credit for the prompt and timely payment of the Township’s obligations 
as expressed in the Contract.  THE TOWNSHIP WILL BE REQUIRED TO LEVY AD VALOREM TAXES 
WITHIN APPLICABLE CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY TAX LIMITATIONS ON ALL 
TAXABLE PROPERTY WITHIN THE TOWNSHIP TO THE EXTENT NECESSARY TO MAKE THE 
PAYMENTS REQUIRED TO PAY PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST ON THE BONDS IF OTHER FUNDS 
FOR THAT PURPOSE ARE NOT AVAILABLE.  IT IS THE PRESENT INTENT OF THE TOWNSHIP TO 
USE THE REVENUES FROM THE TOWNSHIP DIVISION OF THE AUTHORITY’S SYSTEM TO MAKE 
THE PAYMENTS REQUIRED TO PAY PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST ON THE BONDS. 
 

RIGHT OF REFERENDUM 

The Contract will become effective and binding upon the Township without vote of the electors as 
permitted by law unless a petition requesting an election on the question of the Township entering into the 
Contract, signed by not less than 10% of the registered electors of the Township, is filed with the Township 
Clerk within forty-five (45) days after publication of this notice.  If such petition is filed, the Contract cannot 
become effective without an approving vote of a majority of electors of the Township qualified to vote and 
voting on the question.  The Contract is on file at the office of the Township Clerk. 

This notice is given pursuant to the requirements of Section 8 of Act No. 233, Public Acts of Michigan, 
1955, as amended.  Further information concerning the details of the Contract and the matters set out in this 
notice may be secured from the Township Clerk’s office. 
 

Heather Jarrell Roe 
Clerk, Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

 41643313.2/099369.00051 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI
 2024 BUDGET AMENDMENT # 2

February 6, 2024

AMOUNTS ROUNDED UP TO THE NEAREST DOLLAR 

213 - BIKE, SIDEWALK, REC, ROADS  FUND (BSRII) Total Increase $138,785.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 213-000-699.999 $31,200.00

Net Revenues $31,200.00

Expenditures: Capital Clubview Park improvement 213-901-974.026 $31,200.00

Net Expenditures $31,200.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 213-000-699.999 $107,585.00

Net Revenues $107,585.00

Expenditures: Capital Community Center Park Improv 213-901-975.520 $107,585.00

Net Expenditures $107,585.00

266 - LAW ENFORCEMENT FUND Total Increase $30,000.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 266-000-699.999 $30,000.00

Net Revenues $30,000.00

Expenditures: Contractual Services 266-301-818.000 $30,000.00

Net Expenditures $30,000.00

Request to increase the budget for Cyber Security Services for training and education. This will be funded by 
an appropriation of prior year fund balance. 

Request to increase the township portion of the MDNR grant for the Clubview tennis and pickleball court 
construction. The initial budget for construction was budgeted at $248,000 and the bid came in at $279,200, 
the additional $31,200 will be the Township's responsibility.  This will be funded by an appropriation of prior 
year fund balance. 

Request to increase the budget for the Community Center Park tennis and pickleball court construction. The 
initial budget for construction was budgeted at $300,400 and the bid came in at $407,985, the additional 
$107,585 will be the Township's responsibility.  This will be funded by an appropriation of prior year fund 
balance. 

1 of 1



Motion to Amend the 2024 Budget (#2)  
 

Move to increase the Bike, Sidewalk, Rec, Roads Fund (BSRII) budget by $138,785 to 
$3,727,400 and approve the department line item changes as outlined. 

 
Move to increase the Law Enforcement Fund budget by $30,000 to $9,636,116 and 

approve the department line item changes as outlined. 
 
 



 

 
455 East Eisenhower Parkway, Suite 300, Ann Arbor, Michigan 48108 

Page # 1 

SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT 
 
This Subscription Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into by SensCy, Inc., (“SensCy”) and The Charter 
Township of Ypsilanti (“Client”), (each a “Party” and, collectively, the “Parties”), as of the date signed 
below. This Agreement applies to SensCy’s Service.  
 
Service. SensCy shall provide on-going feedback and assistance to the Client to improve the Client’s 
cybersecurity risk profile (“Services”).  A Client Advocate will be assigned to the Client to develop and 
assist in the implementation of a cyberhealth plan and the monitoring of the Client’s cybersecurity 
related activities.  SensCy will also provide a technology platform to the Client which will have key metrics 
on the Client’s cyberhealth (the “Platform”).  The Client is responsible for providing the people and 
resources needed to implement agreed upon recommendations and activities.  Exhibit B outlines a list 
of SensCy deliverables along with client responsibilities, both of which can contribute improved 
cyberhealth. 
 
License Grant. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, SensCy grants to Client, for the Term   
identified below, a limited non-exclusive, non- transferable license to access and use the Platform. The 
features and functionality of the Platform may vary depending on the level of the Service provided 
pursuant to this Agreement. All rights not expressly granted to Client in this Agreement are reserved by 
SensCy, and Client may not use the Platform in any manner not expressly authorized by this Agreement.  
Client may use the Platform for its internal business operations only and not by, or for the benefit of, 
any affiliate, subsidiary, parent company or any other third party.  Client shall not: remove or destroy 
any proprietary rights marks or legends on or in the Platform; modify, enhance, adapt, translate, or 
create derivative works of the Platform; transfer, distribute, assign, sublicense, rent, lease, export or sell 
the Platform; create an Internet "link" to the Platform or "frame" or "mirror" the Platform on any other 
server or Internet-based device; decompile, disassemble, or reverse engineer the Platform; or make 
copies of the Platform.  SensCy may make changes to the Platform, at its discretion, provided that it 
does not materially reduce the features or functions of the Platform. The terms for the Platform in this 
Agreement apply to any updates, upgrades, new releases, and other bug fixes, patches, or changes, 
enhancements, or modifications to the Platform and/or that SensCy make generally commercially 
available.  
 
Fees and Payment Terms. The Subscription Fee Schedule is attached as Exhibit ‘A’ to this Agreement. 
The fees for the Services and Platform (“Subscription Fee”) will be invoiced by SensCy, and all payments 
are due as stated in the Exhibit. Client acknowledges that its failure to pay timely any of the fees payable 
hereunder will be a material breach of this Agreement for which SensCy may, in addition to pursuing 
payment and all other remedies, withhold or suspend the Service and Platform, and/or terminate this 
Agreement. Any revision to terms of this Agreement will be made by the written agreement of the parties. 
 
Term and Termination. The initial term of this Agreement shall commence upon the Effective Date and 
continue for one year thereafter unless expressly stated otherwise in the Exhibit A to the Agreement 
(the “Initial Term”). The Agreement shall thereafter be renewed for successive one-year periods (each 
such period a “Renewal Term” and together with the Initial Term, being the “Term”). The 
Client/Township has the right to opt of the renewal term so long as SensCy receives thirty (30) days 

DocuSign Envelope ID: F1777776-AC80-438E-BBCF-E7A8BBD417D5



 

 
455 East Eisenhower Parkway, Suite 300, Ann Arbor, Michigan 48108 

Page # 2 

advanced written notice.  SensCy may terminate the Agreement and services in case of non-payment of 
fees by Client with ten (10) days’ notice.  Upon termination of this Agreement, Client will cease all use 
of the Service and destroy any Documentation and/or copies of the Service in Client’s possession or 
control. 
 
Proprietary Rights, Confidentiality, and Restrictions.  Both Parties acknowledge that confidential 
information will be shared in their relationship.  To ensure adequate protection, the Parties agree to 
execute the attached Mutual Confidentiality Agreement which covers the treatment of confidential 
information and the non-solicitation of employees.  SensCy owns and shall retain all rights, title and 
interests, including all intellectual property rights, in and to its Services and the Platform. To the extent 
that Client acquires or owns any rights in recommendations or comments regarding the Services and the 
Platform which are incorporated into the Services or the Platform, Client hereby irrevocably assigns, 
transfers and conveys all of its rights, title and interests in and to such materials to SensCy, and agrees 
to assist SensCy and/or execute any documents reasonably necessary for SensCy to perfect, record 
and/or enforce its rights in the materials. 
 
Warranty. The Services and Platform are provided “as-is”, without warranty of any kind or nature.  
SensCy disclaims all other warranties, express or implied, including any warranty of merchantability, 
fitness for a particular purpose or noninfringement and any warranties arising out of course of dealing 
or usage in trade. 
 
SensCy does not guarantee or provide a warranty that the Client will not be subject to a successful 
cyberattack.  The Services and Platform when properly implemented by the Client should reduce the 
Client’s cybersecurity risk profile; but is not possible to guarantee or warrant that a cyberattack could 
not damage the Client or limit the ability of the Client to recover from such an attack. 
 
Indemnification.  SensCy shall defend, at its sole expense, any third party claim, demand or suit 
(“Claim”) against Client alleging that Client’s authorized use of the Platform infringes a third party’s U.S. 
patent, copyright, trademark, trade secret or other intellectual property right, and shall indemnify and 
hold Client harmless from and against any and all damages, fines, penalties, costs, expenses and/or fees 
(including reasonable attorneys’ fees) awarded or assessed against Client in association with the Claim, 
or reached through a negotiated settlement of the Claim.  In order to receive indemnification under 
this Section, Client must promptly notify SensCy of the assertion of the Claim; allow SensCy to retain 
sole and exclusive control over the defense and/or settlement of the Claim; and cooperate with SensCy, 
at SensCy’s expense, in the defense and/or settlement of the Claim.  This Section sets forth each party’s 
sole indemnification obligations and indemnification remedies in association with the Claims described 
above. 

 
Limitation of Liability. Except as otherwise required by law, the liability of SensCy and its licensors to 
Client  for the use of the Service and Platform, for any error or defect in the Service or Platform, for the 
provision of training, for assistance with insurance applications, for providing referrals to other service 
providers, or for other services in connection therewith, however caused, and on any theory of  liability, 
including contract, strict liability,  negligence or other tort, shall be limited to  direct damages not to 

DocuSign Envelope ID: F1777776-AC80-438E-BBCF-E7A8BBD417D5



 

 
455 East Eisenhower Parkway, Suite 300, Ann Arbor, Michigan 48108 

Page # 3 

exceed any fees paid to SensCy for one year hereunder.  In no event will SensCy or its licensors be liable 
for any indirect, incidental, special, punitive, or consequential damages, including damages for loss of 
profits, business, revenue, data, or data use, even if advised of the possibility of such   damages. These 
limitations will apply notwithstanding the failure of the essential purpose of any remedy. 
 
The limitations of liability set forth in this Agreement reflect the allocation of risk negotiated and agreed 
to by the Parties. The Parties would not enter into this Agreement without these limitations on its 
liability. These limitations will apply notwithstanding any failure of essential purpose of any limited 
remedy. 
 
General.  The relationship of the Parties created by this Agreement is that of independent contract. Each 
Party is acting as an independent contractor and not as an agent, partner, or joint venturer with the 
other party for any purpose.  Neither Party shall have the right, power or authority to act or to create 
any obligation, express or implied, on behalf of the other, or to bind the other Party to any document 
or representation. Either Party may not assign or otherwise transfer, by operation of law or otherwise, 
any of its rights under this Agreement without the other Party’s prior written consent, and any 
attempted assignment without such consent will be null and of no effect. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, SensCy may assign this Agreement, without Client’s consent, to an affiliate in connection with 

any acquisition, merger or sale of assets.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between 
the parties and supersedes any and all prior agreements, communications, and understandings with 
respect to the evaluation of the Service and shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State 
of Michigan. The parties expressly agree that the United Nations Convention on Contracts for the 
International Sale of Goods will not apply. Any legal action or proceeding arising under this Agreement 
will be brought exclusively in the federal or state courts located in the State of Michigan and governed 
by Laws of the State of Michigan and the parties hereby irrevocably consent to the personal jurisdiction 
and venue therein. If any provision of this Agreement is held invalid or unenforceable by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, such provision will be construed so as to be enforceable to the maximum extent 
permissible by law, and the remaining provisions of the Agreement will remain in full force and effect. 
The waiver of any breach or default will not constitute a waiver of any other right hereunder or any 
subsequent breach or default. All notices required or permitted under this Agreement will be in writing 
and delivered in person, by confirmed facsimile transmission or by overnight delivery service and in each 
instance will be deemed given upon receipt. All communications will be sent to the addresses set forth 
below or to such other address as may be specified by either party to the other in accordance with this   
Section. If any current or future provision of this agreement is held to be invalid, illegal, or 
unenforceable, the validity, legality, and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this agreement 
will not be affected. The provisions of this Agreement regarding ownership, confidentiality, disclaimer 
of warranties, and limitation of liability shall survive the termination of the Agreement.  
 
 

 
 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: F1777776-AC80-438E-BBCF-E7A8BBD417D5



 

 
455 East Eisenhower Parkway, Suite 300, Ann Arbor, Michigan 48108 

Page # 4 

 
 
 

<<<<<<<<<<<<<<< Signature Section >>>>>>>>>>>>>>> 
 

 
SensCy Inc.: 
 
Representative:  Bhushan Kulkarni     Title: COO 
 
Signature:       Date:   
 
 
 
Client: 
 
Name:  Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
 
Address:  7200 Huron River Drive 
                  Ypsilanti, MI 48197                  
 
Representative: Brenda L. Stumbo     Title:  Township Supervisor 
 
Signature:             Date:    
 
Representative:  Heather Jarrell Roe    Title: Township Clerk 
 
Signature:             Date:    
 
 

 
  

DocuSign Envelope ID: F1777776-AC80-438E-BBCF-E7A8BBD417D5

2/13/2024

2/13/2024

2/14/2024



 

 
455 East Eisenhower Parkway, Suite 300, Ann Arbor, Michigan 48108 

Page # 5 

EXHIBIT A 
 

SensCy Service License Annual Subscription Fee 
  
 
Standard Annual Subscription 
 
Government Discount 10% 
 
Citizen Cyber Program  
(Up to 10K individual residents) 
 

 
$18,000.00 

 
($1,800.00) 

 
 

$13,000.00 

        
 Total Due: $29,200.00 
 

 
Standard annual subscription amount is due in advance through ACH or check.  

 
5% service charge applies if the annual license fee is paid using monthly payment plan. 

 
We would bill for reasonable travel time and expenses for any requested travel to your location(s).  

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: F1777776-AC80-438E-BBCF-E7A8BBD417D5



 

 
455 East Eisenhower Parkway, Suite 300, Ann Arbor, Michigan 48108 

Page # 6 

 
EXHIBIT B 

 
SensCy deliverables with client responsibilities 
 

Deliverable Interval Client Responsibility Client Time 
Commitment 

Onboarding 4 - 6 Weeks (includes process to onboard new clients to our portal, 
add users, develop cyberhealth plan and deliver incident response 
plan.) 

Assign SensCy Cyber Advocate At Kickoff n/a n/a 
Client Kickoff Call Once Provide point of contact 30 minutes 
Initial Cyberhealth 
Evaluation/Assessment 

Once/during 
onboarding 

Provide a point of contact 
with knowledge of I.T. 
systems/policies 

60 minutes 

Cyberhealth plan & incident 
response plan 

Annually 
  
   
  
 

Provide a point of contact 
with knowledge of I.T. 
systems/policies  
 

60  minutes 
  
  
  

Ongoing Client Success Monthly (includes our on-going full cybersecurity solution we 
proactively provide to our clients, guided by SensCy Cyber 
Advocate) 

Confirmation of key 
cyberhealth activities, phishing 
results   

Monthly Provide a point of contact 
with knowledge of I.T. 
systems/policies 

15 – 30 minutes 

Notification to client of threat 
activity/identified 
vulnerabilities 

As needed Provide a point of contact 
with knowledge of I.T. 
systems/policies 

15 – 30 minutes 
  
  

Phishing Campaigns Every other 
month 

All employees with company 
email address 

1-5 minutes 

Briefings to leadership team, 
key stakeholders, or board 

Annual Schedule stakeholders for 
briefing 

30 minutes 

Cybersecurity awareness 
training & policy training   

Every other 
month 

Provide SensCy with list of 
employee names, email 
addresses 
  
Commit to requirement for 
employees to complete 
training 

 5 - 10 minutes 
(per employee) 
  

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: F1777776-AC80-438E-BBCF-E7A8BBD417D5



 

 
455 East Eisenhower Parkway, Suite 300, Ann Arbor, Michigan 48108 

Page # 7 

Citizen	Cyber	
Quarterly one-hour sessions with 
Township residents to be 
scheduled collaboratively 
 

Quarterly Provide space for the 
community discussion or 
virtual room 

90 minutes 

Promote and Market the Citizen 
Cyber Program 

On - Going Ypsilanti Township website 
and have a place for them to 
sign for the education and 
awareness training.  Ypsilanti 
Township will provide this list 
to SensCy quarterly 

On-Going 

Individual Resident Sign Up 
During Open Enrollment Periods 

3-4 times a year Resident will provide Name, 
email address and have them 
check a box validating they are 
an individual resident of 
Ypsilanti Twp  
 

60-90 Day 
Enrollment Period 
Time 

Regular Maintenance On-Going The Township assigns a person 
to assist with the 
administration of the sign ups 
(ex. XLS files) 
 
Schedule Quarterly 1 hour 
meetings via zoom or in 
person for "help desk" like 
services for the residents.  
 
 

On-Going 
 
 
 
 
 
Quarterly 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: F1777776-AC80-438E-BBCF-E7A8BBD417D5



 

 
455 East Eisenhower Parkway, Suite 300, Ann Arbor, Michigan 48108 

Page # 8 

 
Additional SensCy deliverables 
 

● SensCy will independently measure Client’s cyberhealth through assessment and provide Client with 
a SensCy Score 

● SensCy will develop a prioritized action plan to help improve Client’s cyberhealth 
● SensCy will write/update a cybersecurity guide including policies for Client 
● SensCy will provide on-line automated cybersecurity training for Client employees 
● SensCy will perform external vulnerability scans and phishing campaigns, notify Client of any 

concerns, and provide suggested remediations 
● SensCy will monitor the Dark Web, notify Client and provide suggested remediations 
● SensCy will help develop a meaningful incident response plan 
● SensCy will assign a Cybersecurity Advocate to Client  
● SensCy will coordinate and partner with Client’s internal and/or external IT resources for 

cybersecurity 
● SensCy will provide advice on how to correct any issues that are found 
● SensCy will offer cybersecurity briefing for Client’s leadership team, key stakeholders or board as 

outlined above 
● SensCy will help Client with the process to acquire and renew cybersecurity insurance coverage – 

how to apply, properly fill out forms, address ransomware risk, and what can be done to reduce 
cybersecurity premiums 

● SensCy will recommend specialized vendors to Client to help address specific areas of need, at 
discounted costs whenever possible 

● SensCy’s Cybersecurity Advocate will be available to Client during normal business hours – 9am to 
5pm Eastern Standard Time. For cybersecurity emergencies, outside of normal business hours, a 
SensCy representative will be available 

● SensCy will provide a cover letter to Client after the cyberhealth evaluation with details of the 
evaluation 
 

 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: F1777776-AC80-438E-BBCF-E7A8BBD417D5





































 

ATTORNEY REPORT 

 
GENERAL LEGAL UPDATE 

 
 



 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

 



RESOLUTION 2024-03 
 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
RESOLUTION REGARDING THE BAZLEY FOSTER DRAIN 

 
 
WHEREAS, the Municipality of Ypsilanti Township hereby petitions the Washtenaw County Water 
Resources Commissioner to clean out, relocate, widen, deepen, straighten, tile, extend or relocate 
along a highway as needed the Bazley Foster Drain; and 
 
WHEREAS, the of Municipality of Ypsilanti Township acknowledges that it will be liable for an 
assessment at large for a percentage of the total amount to be levied for the proposed work; and  
 
WHEREAS, it has been determined necessary to proceed as soon as possible to accomplish the 
aforesaid improvements. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the of Municipality of Ypsilanti Township hereby 
petitions to the Washtenaw County Water Resources Commissioner to clean out, relocate, widen, 
deepen, straighten, tile, extend or relocate along a highway as needed the Bazley Foster Drain. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that a certified copy of this resolution be attached to the petition. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Supervisor and Clerk be authorized to execute the petition 
on behalf of the Township Board. 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
Ryan Hunter 

John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
To:      Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 
 
From:  Brenda Stumbo, Township Supervisor 
 
Date:   February 28, 2024 
 
RE:     Request to authorize the Washtenaw County Water Resources Commission’s 

petition for the Bazley Foster Drain  
 
Attached is a petition and project page/map from the Washtenaw County Water Resources 
Commission to make improvements to the county drain, Bazley Foster. The improvements 
include cleaning out the drain and alleviating the flooding at the Victorious Life Church of God, 
Sweet Road and Rue Deauville residents.    
 
The estimated cost is between $275,020-$330,020, to be funded in 2025 from 101-902 Capital 
Outlay (ARPA) fund, the cost will be shared based on the drain commission determination with 
Superior Township and Road Commission also contributing to the cost. We believe the flooding 
issues were created after a development across the street in Superior Township put in a large 
retention/detention pond for a development and the Beyer Drain knows no boundaries and flows 
throughout many communities in our county and state.  
   
Evan Pratt, our great Water Resource Commissioner, will be at the meeting to answer any 
questions regarding the petition.  
   
Thank you for your consideration.   
 



November 7, 2023 

 

 

 

 

Brenda Stumbo, Supervisor 

Ypsilanti Township 

7200 S. Huron River Dr. 

Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 

Subject:  Bazley Foster Drain 

 

Dear Ms. Stumbo, 

 

Enclosed is a petition package for the Bazley Foster Drain.  The package includes the 

filing information required for a municipality in a drainage district to petition for 

improvements to a county drain.  Please review, sign the forms and return them to 

our office.  If you have any questions or require assistance please do not hesitate to 

contact us at 734.222.6860. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

Kristi Thiel 

Senior Management Analyst 

 

 



GUIDE FOR DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 

The legal process the Water Resources Commissioner’s Office must follow upon receipt 

of a petition for “clean-out” is dictated by the Michigan Drain Code (Act 40 of 1956).  

The steps are as follows: 

 
1. Petition signed by (A) five or more landowners (can include husband and 

wife if both appear on the deed of the property) in the drainage district liable 
for assessment, or (B) the Health Department, or (C) the Township, City or 
Village, and submitted to the Water Resources Commissioner.  A property 
owner may only sign a petition one time even if he/she owns more than one 
parcel of land in the district.   

 

2. Signatures of petitioners verified by the Water Resources Commissioner’s 

Office (petitions submitted by landowners ONLY). 

 

3. Public hearing held where a three-member Board of Determination 

(appointed by the Water Resources Commissioner or Chair of the Board of 

Commissioners) will listen to testimony from landowners in the Drainage District 

and make a determination, based on that testimony, as to whether the 

project is necessary and should proceed or not.  Detailed cost estimates will 

not be available at this time because the amount of money available to 

expend prior to a determination that the project will or will not continue is 

minimal.  If the project is determined unnecessary, another petition cannot be 

submitted for a period of one year and the petition process ends.  If the 

project is determined necessary, engineering, design and scope of project will 

be completed along with the following steps. 

  

4. After receipt of engineering report, the Water Resources Commissioner will 

proceed to bidding the project, or will first hold an informational meeting with 

landowners in the Drainage District if there are alternatives or unusual issues to 

discuss.  Cost estimates will be available at this time. 

 

5. Bid letting and a Day of Review, where landowners may come into the Drain   

Commissioner’s Office to discuss their apportionment, will then be held.   

Apportionment may be appealed to the Probate Court. 

 

6. If the Water Resources Commissioner determines cost of the project is 

reasonable, project will then continue.  If costs are significantly higher than 

anticipated, input from local governments and affected citizens will be 

secured.  The Water Resources Commissioner will halt the project if costs are 

considered excessive.  Costs incurred up to this point will be assessed against 

the Drainage District. 

 

The above information is a general guide for persons interested in the petition process 

for drainage improvement projects.  If you have questions or need any further 

information, please call the Water Resources Commissioner’s Office at (734) 222.6860.  



 

 
YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP 

  
PETITION FOR MAINTENANCE  

AND IMPROVEMENT OF A DRAIN 
 

BAZLEY FOSTER DRAIN 
 
 

To the Washtenaw County Water Resources Commissioner: 

 

 The undersigned is Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County, Michigan.  This petition 

has been duly authorized by the governing body of Ypsilanti Township and requests that 

the Bazley Foster Drain be maintained and improved as provided in Chapter 8 of Public 

Act 40 of 1956, as amended, to alleviate drainage issues in the Drainage District.  

 

 The Bazley Foster Drain is located in Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County, 

Michigan. 

 

 The proposed maintenance and improvement is necessary for the public health, 

convenience or welfare and is further necessary for the protection of the public health in 

Ypsilanti Township. 

 

 Ypsilanti Township will be liable for an assessment at large against it for a 

percentage of the cost of the proposed maintenance and improvement. 

 

 

 

 

Dated:                                                              , 20______         

 

 

 

 

 

 ________________________________________

__ 

 By: Brenda Stumbo 

 Its: Supervisor 

 

 

 ________________________________________

__ 

 By: Heather Jarrell Roe 

 Its: Clerk 
 



• Drain Name: Bazley Foster 

• Drain ID:  8038 

• Funding:  Chapter 4 Drain, $15,000 maintenance limit 

• Drain Location: Ypsilanti Township and Superior Township 

• Location of Issue: N Prospect and E Clark Roads 

• Drainage Concern: Existing Detention Basin serving the Autumn Woods Apartments discharges 

under E Clark Road and freely releases through a piped end section within the public road right-of-

way. Run-off drains onto the Victorious Life Church of God parcel, creating frequent ponding 

situations in the parking area and near the church structure. Flow eventually migrates southerly into 

second detention basin, which discharges onto private property east of Sweet Road. An open 

channel conveyance ultimately leads to Deauville Parish Drain, a sub-district of the Bazley Foster 

Drain. 

• Proposed Project: Intercept run-off at E Clark Road with stormwater pipe within road ROW, 

discharging overland east of Sweet Road to branch of Deauville Parish Drain. 

 

Area Map 

 

  



Estimated Costs 

Bazley Foster Drain 

2 pre-construction video documentation 1 LS 2,500.00$    2,500.00$          

3 soil erosion and sedimentation control 1 LS 3,000.00$    3,000.00$          

4 site clearing 1 LS 1,250.00$    1,250.00$          

5 open channel excavation 600 LF 10.00$          6,000.00$          

6 storm sewer, CL IV RCP 750 LF 100.00$        75,000.00$        

7 catch basin, 4-foot diameter 4 EA 2,500.00$    10,000.00$        

8 end section, concrete 1 EA 1,800.00$    1,800.00$          

9 private driveway crossing 4 EA 5,000.00$    20,000.00$        

10 bituminous road restoration 45 SY 130.00$        5,850.00$          

11 miscellaneous plain riprap 10 SY 220.00$        2,200.00$          

12 traffic control 1 LS 5,000.00$    5,000.00$          

13 seeding, fertilizing, and mulching 1 LS 2,500.00$    2,500.00$          

14 cleanup and restoration 1 LS 2,500.00$    2,500.00$          

15 catch basin, 4-foot diameter (line 2) 2 EA 2,500.00$    5,000.00$          

16 storm sewer, CL IV RCP (line 2) 500 LF 100.00$        50,000.00$        

hydraulic study 1 EA 7,500.00$    7,500.00$          

Engineering Design @ 15% 21,390.00$        

Contract Administration @ 7.5% 10,695.00$        

Construction Management @9% 12,834.00$        

Contingency @ 10% 25,001.90$        

 

 

construction cost 142,600.00$     

total estimated cost 275,020.90$     

total estimated cost (with alternative line 2) 330,020.00$     

 

 

 



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
Ryan Hunter 

John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
To:  Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 
 
From:  John Hines, Municipal Services Director 
 
Date:  February 29, 2024  
 
RE:   Request to approve five year agreement with Eastern Michigan University 

for operation of the “rowing course” located on Ford Lake. 
 
 
The Residential Services Department is looking to approve the agreement with Eastern Michigan 
University (EMU) for the operation of the rowing course in Ford Lake for a five year period 
beginning on the contract completion date.  The course will be funded through a collaboration of 
EMU, Destination Ann Arbor and the Marriot Hotel and will not require a financial commitment 
from the township.   
 
Ypsilanti Township and EMU have operated under an agreement for use of the “Boathouse” on 
the Township’s Lakeside Park property for over ten years.  The proposal above will be separate 
from the current agreement and focus on the rowing course that would be installed in Ford Lake 
and the corresponding events partnership.  The course created would consist of a 2000 meter 8 
lane rowing course.  The course would be installed at the bottom of the lake and would not 
interfere with standard lake activities when not in use.  For events, the course would be raised 
with buoy’s and be located between Big Island Park and the Ford Lake Park Beach Area.  This 
course would allow for EMU in cooperation with the Township to offer local, regional and 
national level rowing events.  Township staff and EMU will have a consistent line of 
communication regarding the course, proposed events and schedule and coordination with park 
operations.   
 
 
 
John Hines 
Municipal Services Director 
jhines@ypsitownship.org 
734-351-8947 
 

mailto:mhoffmeister@ytown.org


MUTUAL USE AGREEMENT 
 
Eastern Michigan University (“EMU”), a Michigan nonprofit corporation with its principal 
place of business at 900 Oakwood Street, Ypsilanti, MI 48197, by and through its Athletics 
Department, and Ypsilanti Charter Township (“YPSI TOWNSHIP”), a charter township of 
Washtenaw County in the state of Michigan with its principal place of business at 7200 S. Huron 
River Drive. Ypsilanti, MI 48197, hereby enter this Mutual Use Agreement (the 
“Agreement”) for the purpose of operating the rowing course (“the Facility”) located on 
Ford Lake. 
 
The parties agree as follows:   
 

1. PURPOSE: The purpose of this agreement is to establish a collaborative partnership 
between EMU and YPSI TOWNSHIP for the shared goal of hosting mutually beneficial 
events at the Facility on Ford Lake and in Ford Lake Park. Both entities recognize the 
unique potential of the Facility as a valuable resource for community engagement and as 
a driver of economic development.   

 
2. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS:  

a. EMU shall be the sole owner and operator of the Facility and responsible for the 
maintenance on The Facility. 
 

b. The parties agree to work collaboratively on scheduling, hosting, and executing 
rowing competitions at The Facility.  

 
3. DEFINITIONS:  

a. “The Facility” as described above shall include the anchors, lines, buoys, and 
other materials used to create a 2,000 meter 8 lane rowing course at Ford Lake, as 
well as warmup and cool down areas, a floating starting dock, a floating starters 
platform, an aligners platform, and launch and recovery docks, as well as any 
other fixtures or equipment the parties deem necessary and appropriate or the 
conduct of competitive rowing activities at Ford Lake. 

 
4. FACILITY OWNERSHIP, OPERATION, LOCATION & PLANS:  

a. EMU shall be the sole owner and operator of the Facility.  
 

b. EMU and YPSI TOWNSHIP shall mutually agree on the final construction plans 
for the Facility.  
 

c. EMU shall be responsible for maintaining all necessary state and local permits for 
the Facility. EMU will share copies of all necessary state and local permits with 
YPSI TOWNSHIP. 
 

d. EMU and YPSI TOWNSHIP agree to work collaboratively to develop an 
emergency action plan for all events at The Facility. 



e. EMU and YPSI TOWNSHIP agree to work collaboratively on the subjects of 
parking fees and trash collection for each event as the scope will vary greatly due 
to the possible scale of park usage needed. 

 
5. COMMUNICATIONS: 

a. The parties agree to work collaboratively on scheduling, hosting, and executing 
rowing competitions within The Facility.  

b. The parties agree to designate communication liaisons at the start of each calendar 
to facilitate the sharing of information to each party. 
 

6. TERM AND TERMINATION:  
a. The Term of this agreement shall commence upon the date last signed below, for 

a term of five (5) years, unless the Term is sooner terminated as provided herein. 
At any time before the end of the Term, the parties may, by a separate writing, 
extend the Term for an additional 5-year period. 
 

b. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if EMU determines that is no longer wants to or is 
unable to operate The Facility, EMU may terminate this agreement upon one (1) 
year’s advance written notice to YPSI TOWNSHIP. 

 
7. INDEMNITY: Each party agrees that statutory and common law theories and principles 

of indemnification, contribution, and equitable restitution shall govern and apply to 
claims, costs, actions, causes of action, losses or expenses (including attorney fees) 
resulting from or caused by the actions or omissions of its employees pursuant to this 
Agreement. 
 

8. INSURANCE:  EMU and YPSI TOWNSHIP agree to maintain in full force and effect 
for the term of this agreement, commercial general and professional liability insurance or 
its equivalent with minimum limits of coverage not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence 
and $3,000,000 in the general aggregate.  A certificate of insurance will be furnished to 
the other party upon request, indicating effective coverage and liability limits.   
 

9. Any and all notices, consents or other communications by one party intended for the 
other shall be in writing, and personally delivered, transmitted by electronic means, or be 
sent via first class mail, postage paid, to the addresses set forth as follows: 
 
EMU:  Eastern Michigan University    
__________________________________________ 
__________________________________________ 
With a copy to:     Legal Affairs 
11 Welch Hall 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197     
734-487-1055 
 



YPSI TOWNSHIP:______________________ 
______________________________________ 
______________________________________             

 
 

10. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS:  Each party agrees to comply with and to be separately 
responsible for compliance with all laws, including but not limited to anti-discrimination 
laws, which may be applicable to their respective activities under this agreement.  Both 
parties promise to not discriminate on the basis of race, color, creed, age, sex, national 
origin, religion, height, weight, marital status, sexual orientation, gender identity/ 
expression, or disability. 
 

11. GOVERNING LAW: This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Michigan. 

 
12. ENTIRE AGREEMENT: This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the 

parties and supersedes all prior discussions, negotiations, and agreements, whether oral or 
written, relating to the subject matter herein. 
 

13. AMENDMENTS: Any amendments to this Agreement must be in writing and signed by 
all parties. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date of the 
last signatory below. 
 
YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP SUPERVISOR 
 
 
By: _______________________ 
 
NAME 
TITLE 
 
DATE: ____________________ 
 
 
YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP CLERK 
 
 
By: _______________________ 
 
NAME 
TITLE 
 
DATE: ____________________ 

BOARD OF REGENTS OF EASTERN 
MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY 
 
By: _______________________ 
 
NAME 
TITLE 
 
DATE: ____________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

























































 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
Ryan Hunter 

John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
To:      Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 
 
From:  Brenda Stumbo, Township Supervisor 
 
Date:   February 28, 2024 

Re: Request authorization for Clerk and Supervisor to sign the Proposal for Services 
from LAITR in the amount of $9,000 per month  

In the past Ypsilanti Township contracted for services such as litter and trash pickup with 
Michigan Ability Partners to help integrate folks back into the workforce. The Washtenaw 
County Sheriff Department has not had a work program since prior to COVID, and in the past 
we contracted with the county for these services and budget for county community work 
program or other agencies in our Police Services Budget.    

Attached please find a Proposal for Beautification Services for a PILOT program with the 
nonprofit Life After Incarceration: Transition and Reentry (LAITR). This will be to develop a 
work program for justice-involved individuals (JII) to gain hands on experience through 
beautification of the community with litter/trash pickup throughout the Township to start and 
with the goal of having a clean community we can all take pride in. Trash and litter in the 
community is the number two complaint from our residents at our community meetings, with 
number one being speeding. This work will be under the supervision of LAITR, (just like MAP 
in the past) with before/after pictures being provided. Laurie Lutomski will be the point of 
contact and administrator of this project.   

This PILOT is proposed to run from March 15, 2024 – November 15, 2024, $9,000 per month 
for a total of $72,000. This will be funded from the Community Work Program line, 266-301-
830.004, and Attorney Winters has reviewed the proposal.  

Your consideration is greatly appreciated.   

cc:  John Hines, Municipal Services Director  
Laurie Lutomski, Community Resource Coordinator  
McLain & Winters, Township Attorneys  

 



 
 

1 

LAITR 

PROPOSAL FOR SERVICES 
Ariana Gonzalez, OTD, OTR/L, CTP 

2/26/24 

OVERVIEW 

LAITR is pleased to submit this proposal for services to support Ypsilanti Township’s mission to 

support and guide sustainable community development. The goals of the township are in line 

with our goals for expansion and development of employment programming for underserved 

communities that have difficulty obtaining and maintaining employment independently in typical 

settings thus leading to increased poverty and crime in our community. This proposed 

collaboration directly supports LAITR’s mission to increase equitable opportunities for justice-

involved individuals (JII) and we are grateful for the opportunity. LAITR is excited to offer 

support for empowerment and growth through meaningful hands-on work to justice-involved 

individuals. Additionally, we are excited for the opportunity to better integrate this population into 

our community through skill development, supported gainful employment and pride in results of 

the labor. 

Both full-time occupational therapists at Life After Incarceration: Transition and Reentry (LAITR) 

are Certified Trauma Professionals, trained in the Life Skills Workbook, and trained and 

experienced with delivering interventions to this population. The ED and Founder of LAITR is 

educated on and experienced in program development within correctional systems and 

community-based settings as well as regularly participates in supervision and training of 

graduate students for effective service delivery.  

LAITR was born to better meet the health needs of justice-impacted individuals and prevent 

further contact with the justice system.  



 
 

2 

THE OBJECTIVE 

To develop and expand upon a partnership with Ypsilanti Township to meet various needs of 

the community, environment and residents through a LAITR work program for JII. 

PROPOSAL AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

Recommendation: Phase 1 (pilot) March 15, 2024-November 15, 2024 
LAITR will develop a work program consisting of JII and provide ongoing support, 
supervision and guidance to ensure successful job retention and quality of work. LAITR 
will be prepared to initiate a pilot program including but not limited to the tasks identified 
below: 

• Litter/trash pick-up in Township-identified Zones  
• Empty trach cans at bus stops or other Township-identified areas 
• Clean up trash/litter from resident-identified areas per the Township’s request 

o We recommend starting a live list where the Township and LAITR share access 
and can add to/track and manage incoming requests and completion of services 

▪ LAITR Team members may also identify areas to add to list and gain 
approval to clear for Township 

 
LAITR team members will take before/after pictures of work and these pictures as well as a 
report will be sent to the Township monthly/as requested by the Township. 

Liability 
LAITR will be responsible for carrying the appropriate liability and worker’s compensation 
insurance as required. The relationship of LAITR to the Township is and shall continue to be 
that of an Independent Contractor and no liability or benefits such as Worker's Compensation, 
Pension Rights, or other rights or liabilities arising out of or related to a contract for hire or 
employer/employee relationship shall arise or accrue to either party as a result of the 
performance of this Agreement. LAITR will also be responsible for gas, insurance and 
maintenance of any vehicles used in these operations and said costs are reflected in the hourly 
rate invoiced to the Charter Township of Ypsilanti. 

 

Materials Required 
Ypsilanti Township has agreed to supply: 



 
 

3 

• Pickers/trash pick-up materials to be stored at Holmes Road  
o Bags and Grabbers 

LAITR has agreed to supply: 

• Employees 
• Employee gear (shirts, safety gloves, masks) 
• Transportation for employees as needed 
• Employee training and supervision 
• Walkie talkies 

Pending Material: 

• Vehicle for employee transportation 
o LAITR will check into various options within community to obtain a vehicle 

Reports/Invoicing 
LAITR will provide the township with monthly reports regarding work completed/hours 
completed and any pending needs. LAITR will invoice Ypsilanti Township monthly with 
estimated costs to run operations (cash advance) and provide a detailed report on cost 
spendings within the monthly report. 

EXPECTED RESULTS 

Benefits for Clients 
● Result #1: Increase in individual goal attainment. 
● Result #2: Increased quality of life and health. 
● Result #3: Improved integration into work and social life with transferrable skills. 
● Result #4: Improved sense of purpose and responsibility fostering community connection. 

Benefits for Township  
● Result #1: Decreased economic instability. 
● Result #2: Improved care for community/physical space and aesthetics. 
● Result #3: Reduced incidence of community violence and/or crime. 
● Result #4: Decreasing racial inequities in criminal legal system by empowering and 

enabling this population to succeed with supportive employment. 



 
 

4 

PRICING 

The following table details the pricing for delivery of the services outlined in this proposal with an 
estimated cost of services which are subject to change monthly with approval from the 
Township. This pricing is valid for 30 days from the date of this proposal: 

Recommendation 1: (transportation/vehicle/gas, supervision, training, program development) + (crew 
consisting of 5 part-time employees at 15 hours p/wk or equivalent to 75 total hours p/wk/300 hours 
p/month) 

$9,000 p/month= $30.00 p/hour 

 

Total Estimated p/month: $9,000  

Disclaimer: The prices listed in the preceding table are an estimate for the services discussed. This summary is not a warranty of 
final price. 

QUALIFICATIONS 

LAITR’s qualifications are relevant in the following ways: 

● The founder and executive director of LAITR, Dr. Gonzalez, holds a Doctor of Occupational 
Therapy degree from Washington University in St. Louis School of Medicine. Dr. Gonzalez 
obtained her Masters in Occupational Therapy degree from Eastern Michigan University.  

● Dr. Gonzalez’s niche is in program development for underserved populations such as 
justice-involved individuals post-incarceration and people experiencing homelessness. 
Additional areas of focus include population health, mental health, sleep health and sleep 
hygiene, promotion of and advocate for social and occupational justice and reducing 
recidivism through building cognitive capacities for life skills and healthy habits.  

● Both occupational therapists at LAITR are certified trauma professionals (CTPs) and lead 
each and every group and individual session with a trauma informed care lens. 

● LAITR’s vision is holistic and aligns with Ypsilanti Township’s mission to foster sustainable 
development, guide thoughtful design and protect health, safety and welfare of our 
community. 

o LAITR’s mission: Improving health, wellness and quality of life for justice-
involved individuals. 

o LAITR’s vision: A world with equitable opportunities for all justice-involved 
individuals: All persons deserve the individualized opportunities, resources, 
tools and skills required to live the lives they want and need to live. For many 
individuals, trauma, mental illness, substance use, racial profiling and 
socioeconomic hardships lead to higher incidences of incarceration. We believe 
in enabling people to overcome their past experiences, manage their current 



 
 

5 

situations and become better equipped with the skills they need to reenter their 
communities successfully, emphasizing there is no ‘one size fits all’ solution. 

● The occupational therapist(s) are trained in the Life Skills Workbook Curriculum and can 
provide individuals with the workbooks, guide engagement in skill building opportunities and 
build programming expanded on specific areas related to violence intervention (such as 
goal setting, habits, communication, and emotional regulation). 

● Dr. Gonzalez places emphasis on research and evidence-driven practices and currently 
has an EMU Masters occupational therapy students and access to research students to 
determine efficacy of programming. 

CONCLUSION 

We look forward to working further with Ypsilanti Township further and supporting your efforts 
for community wellness and thoughtful development. We are confident that we can meet the 
challenges ahead and stand ready to partner with you in delivering effective services for a 
healthier and safer community. We are grateful to have a governing body that appreciates the 
value of all community members, including our population of formerly incarcerated individuals. 

If you have questions on this proposal, feel free to contact Dr. Ariana Gonzalez at your 
convenience by email at agonzalez@lifeafterincarceration.com or by phone at 734-347-4910.  

Thank you for your consideration. 

If you agree to the terms of this proposal, please sign and date below to initiate services: 

X
B r e n d a  S tu m b o

Y p s i la n t i  T o w n s h ip  S u p e r v i s o r

                            Date: 

X
H e a th e r  J a r r e l l  R o e

Y p s i l a n t i  T o w n s h ip  C le r k

                            Date:

X
A r i a n a  G o n z a l e z , O T D , O T R / L

F o u n d e r  a n d  E x e c u t i v e  D i r e c t o r  o f  L A IT R

                               Date: 

mailto:agonzalez@lifeafterincarceration.com


 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 
Ryan Hunter 

To:  Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 
 
From:  Belinda Kingsley, Community Compliance Director 
 
Re: Request to receive authorization for Circuit Court litigation to abate a public 

nuisance at a property identified as 1145 W Michigan Ave; funded in account 
101-729-801.023. 

 
Date:  February 28, 2024 
 
 
The Ypsilanti Township Ordinance and Planning departments have investigated a public 
nuisance, at 1145 Michigan Ave, for which authorization is requested to engage legal services to 
abate said nuisance.   
 
1145 W Michigan Ave. 
 

 



 2 

 
 
The property identified as 1145 W Michigan Ave is located west of Second Ave (City of Ypsilanti) 
and east of Firwood St., in an RC – Regional Corridor zone.  The property was purchased in 
2018, and the current owner is a domestic limited liability company, 1145 West Michigan Ave 
LLC, with Luke Safranek, 5359 Hilltop Ct, Ann Arbor listed as the Resident Agent with LARA. The 
last approved use at 1145 W Michigan Ave was The Wright Brand Pet Supply, in 2012.  Based on 
the graphics on the front of the building, it is, or was, occupied by Olympia Skate Shop, and a 
Business Registration was not submitted to the Township.  
 
This property came to the attention of the Planning and Ordinance departments as a result of 
the blighted condition and unapproved uses.  A Notice of Violation was issued by Planning on 
December 21, 2023, citing the outdoor storage violation.  When there was no resolution of the 
storage violation, an inspection was performed by Ordinance on January 25, 2024, and a Notice 
of Violation was issued, citing the following unapproved uses and violations: 
 

1. A Business Registration has not been filed, reviewed or approved for any type of use 
since 2012. 

2. Unapproved outdoor storage of vehicles, trailers, tow trucks, semi-trucks, commercial 
vehicles, recreational vehicles, boats, etc.   

3. Junk, trash, tree branches, scrap metal, pallets, barrels, tires and other blight stored on-
site must be removed. 

4. Cease the use of the fenced-in area on the east side of the lot for storage. 
5. Remove unlicensed and/or inoperable vehicles. All vehicles not associated with an 

approved use must be removed. 
6. Remove two dilapidated signs from the site, and cover the unpermitted sign painted on 

building. 
 
At the time of reinspection on February 9, 2024, it was discovered that the site also contains 
unapproved rental housing.  The Building Department immediately posted “Building Unsafe to 
Use and Building Not to be Occupied” placards due to the potential public health and safety 
issues associated with uninspected and unapproved rental housing.   
 
Stephen Safranek contacted the Township by email and stated that he has been retained to 
represent Luke Safranek. Despite numerous emails back and forth with Mr. Safranek there was 
no progress made in gaining compliance with the blight, or even determining the current use of 
the property.  
 
The site was reinspected on February 27, 2024, and no changes or attempts to resolve the 
issues were noted.  Authorization to initiate legal action in Circuit Court to address the public 
nuisance this property represents is requested.  
 
Thank you for your consideration and your continued support for our efforts to remove public 
nuisances from the Township. 



 3 

 

 
 

 



 4 

 

 
 
 

 



 5 

 
 

 



 6 

 
 

 
 



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 
Ryan Hunter 

To:  Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 
 
From:  Belinda Kingsley, Community Compliance Director 
 
Re: Request to receive authorization for Circuit Court litigation to abate a public 

nuisance at a property identified as 161 Ecorse Road; funded in account 101-
729-801.023. 

 
Date:  February 28, 2024 
 
 
The Ypsilanti Township Ordinance Department has investigated a public nuisance, at 161 Ecorse 
Road, for which authorization is requested to engage legal services to abate said nuisance.   
 
161 Ecorse Road 
 

 
 
  



 2 

The property identified as 161 Ecorse Road is located south of Hawthorne and north of 
Parkwood, on a NC – Neighborhood Corridor zoned parcel.  The property was purchased in 
2021 for $43,000.  The current owner is a domestic limited liability company, Golden Crown 
Properties LLC, with Asim Awad, of 1024 Ecorse Road, listed as the Resident Agent with LARA.  
The last approved use for this property appears to have been a grocery store, however, a 
Business Registration is not on file with the Township to verify. 
 
This property came to the attention of the Ordinance Department as a result of the blighted 
condition, resident complaints and failure to respond to requests to register as a vacant 
structure.  The property has been vacant since at least 2015, when it was first registered with 
the Township. Since Golden Crown purchased the property, a vacant inspection has not been 
completed, leading to an Administrative Search Warrant being executed on January 29, 2024.  
 
The Administrative Search Warrant inspection on January 29, 2024, confirmed that the building, 
parking lot and fence have deteriorated in the time that the building has remaining vacant.  
Four enforcement actions have been opened in the last two years for blight, unsafe sidewalks 
and driveways, standing water on the site, peeling paint, failing roof and gutters, along with 
overgrown weeds and trash accumulating on the site.  Citations for blight and failure to 
maintain a vacant property have been issued and ignored by the owner, resulting in Default 
Judgments in District Court.  
 
Numerous attempts to contact the property owner and gain compliance with a vacant 
inspection and general property maintenance have been ignored. This property was purchased 
in a deteriorated state, and there has been no effort by the current owner to maintain it in the 
last three years.  It is unfair for residents and businesses in the area to continue to permit this 
dilapidated property to remain in its current condition.  Authorization to initiate legal action in 
Circuit Court to address the public nuisance this property represents is requested.  
 
Thank you for your consideration and your continued support for our efforts to remove public 
nuisances from the Township. 
 



 3 

 
 

 



 4 

 
 

 



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 
Ryan Hunter 

To:  Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 
 
From:  Belinda Kingsley, Community Compliance Director 
 
Re: Request to receive authorization for Circuit Court litigation to abate a public 

nuisance at properties identified as 9725 Bemis Road and 9645 Bemis; funded 
in account 101-729-801.023. 

 
Date:  February 28, 2024 
 
 
The Ypsilanti Township Ordinance and Planning departments have investigated a public 
nuisance, at 9725 Bemis Rd and 9645 Bemis, for which authorization is requested to engage 
legal services to abate said nuisance.   
 
9725 and 9645 Bemis 

 
 
The properties identified as 9725 Bemis Road and 9645 Bemis Road are located west of Bunton 
and east of Tuttle Hill, in an R-2 One-Family Residential zone.  The current owners of a vacant 
parcel identified as 9725 Bemis are Anthony and Brooke Publiski.  The Publiski’s vacant parcel 
has been leased to the owner of an adjoining parcel. The owner of the adjoining parcel, Adam 



 2 

Woolf, at 9645 Bemis, has developed his property and the Publiski’s property into a motocross 
track to ride motorcycles.   
 
In September 2022, the Township received a complaint from a neighbor regarding the 
disruptive noise caused by the Woolfe family, friends and associates riding motorcycles.  The 
Woolf family had previously used their own property for riding motorcycles, without causing a 
significant disturbance.  Once they leased the additional property from the Publiskis the noise 
became disruptive to the peaceful enjoyment of the neighboring homes.  One neighbor 
attempted to reach an agreement with Woolf regarding the use of the property, but was not 
successful, and approached the Township for assistance. 
 
A Notice of Violation was issued to the Publiskis in September 2022 to cease and desist the use 
of the vacant property based upon the unacceptable level of noise caused by the motorcycles.  
Improvement was noted by the neighbors, and the case was closed in November 2022.   
 
In March 2023, the Township was contacted by a resident adjacent to the vacant land who 
indicated that the noise issues had returned.  Officer Gooden issued a Citation to the Publiskis 
and the case was heard by District Court Judge Washington, with Adam Woolf in attendance.  
An agreement was reached that would limit the hours and days for permitted riding, along with 
a location that would not go past the neighbor’s house. 
 
Since the time that the Order was issued by Judge Washington it has been reported that Woolf 
is not abiding by the parameters established.  The riding continues late into the evening, 
exceeds the limit on the number of days permitted and is not within the established 
boundaries.  Additionally, bright lights have been installed to permit riding after dark, and there 
is a higher volume of use, causing a public nuisance to the neighboring properties.  
 
The Zoning Ordinance does not permit R-2 One-Family Residential parcels, such as Woolf’s and 
Publiski’s, to be used as a motocross track.  This is a commercial use that has zoning 
requirements for parcel size, establishing buffers, distance from residential properties and 
compliance with noise levels.  
 
It is difficult to obtain photos of the actual track from the ground, so I have attached arial GIS 
maps from 2020 and 2023, showing the extent of the motocross trails installed on both Woolf’s 
property and the vacant lot owned by the Publiskis. The highlighted property on the right is 
Publiski’s and the highlighted property on the left is Woolf’s.  I have also attached recent 
photos taken from a neighboring property, showing the lights installed for riding after dark. 
 
Needless to say, the experience of living next to this motocross track has had an emotional 
impact on the neighboring property owners, along with the negative impact it has had upon 
their quality of life and potentially the value of their property.  Authorization to initiate legal 
action in Circuit Court to address the public nuisance these properties represent is requested. 
Thank you for your consideration and your continued support for our efforts to remove public 
nuisances from the Township. 



 3 

 
 

 
 



 4 

Washtenaw County GIS – 2020  

 
Washtenaw County GIS – 2023

 



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
Ryan Hunter 

John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
To:      Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 
 
From:  Brenda Stumbo, Township Supervisor 
 
Date:   February 28, 2024 
 
RE:     Request to approve Washtenaw County Road Commission (WCRC) 2024 Road 

Agreement in the amount of $17,113.74, budgeted in 213-446-982.006 
 
Attached for the Board’s consideration is the 2024 Road Agreement with the Washtenaw County 
Road Commission for an additional street sweeping service on curbed local roads, in addition to 
the two seasonal sweepings.  
 
There are 174.63 curb miles in the Township, costing $98.00 per curb mile, equaling $17,113.74 
per round. This cost is budgeted in line 213-446-982.006. 
 
Thank you for your consideration.  
 
 



2024 YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP AGREEMENT 
 
THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this _____ day of _______, 2024, by and between 
the Township Board of Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County, parties of the first part and the 
Board of Washtenaw County Road Commissioners, parties of the second part. 
 
WHEREAS, the parties of the first part desire that certain improvements be made upon the local 
roads in the Township of Ypsilanti, and   
 
WHEREAS, proper authority is provided to the parties of the agreement under the provisions in 
Act 51 of Public Acts of 1951 as amended, 
 
IT IS NOW THEREFORE AGREED, the parties of the second part will accomplish the 
improvements as specified herein, all in accordance with the standards of the parties of the 
second part. 
 
IT IS FURTHER AGREED, the parties of the first part shall pay WCRC for the actual project 
costs incurred for the project; and  
 
IT IS FURTHER AGREED, the WCRC will submit an invoice to the Township on July 1, 2024, 
for 50% of the estimated project costs. Following project completion and final accounting of the 
project costs, WCRC will submit the final invoice for the actual remaining unpaid costs. The final 
invoice shall provide supporting detail and information, which reasonably identifies the actual 
project costs incurred by WCRC. The Township described herein agrees to remit payment within 
30 days from receipt of WCRC invoices. 
 
Additional Street Sweeping Services 
Work to include one (1) additional street sweepings on curbed local roads in Ypsilanti 
Township. 2024 Local Road Sweeping in Ypsilanti Township (one round)= 174.63 curb 
miles@ $98.00 per curb mile= $17,113.74 per round.  

 
Estimated total project cost:   $           17,113.74   

 
 

  



2024 Ypsilanti Township Agreement 

AGREEMENT SUMMARY 
         

2024 LOCAL ROAD PROGRAM      
Additional Street Sweeping Services     $           17,113.74  
Subtotal        $           17,113.74  
         
Less WCRC 2024 Local Matching Funds    $             8,556.87  

         
ESTIMATED AMOUNT TO BE PAID BY YPSILANTI 
TOWNSHIP UNDER THIS AGREEMENT DURING 
2024: 

  

 $             8,556.87  
         

YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP: 
         
         
         
Brenda Stumbo, Supervisor  Heather Jarrell Roe, Clerk 
         
         
         
Barbara Ryan Fuller, Chair    Matthew MacDonell, Managing Director 
         

 



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
Ryan Hunter 

John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
To:      Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 
 
From:  Brenda Stumbo, Township Supervisor 
 
Date:   February 28, 2024 
 
RE:     Request to move David Marshall from alternate to regular member of the Zoning  

Board of Appeals to fill the vacancy until 12/31/2025 
 

With the resignation of Brad Hine, there is a vacancy on the Zoning Board of Appeals. I am 
recommending to appoint David Marshall who is an alternate on the ZBA to fill the vacancy. 
   
Thank you for your consideration. 
  



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
Ryan Hunter 

John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
To:      Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 
 
From:  Brenda Stumbo, Township Supervisor 
 
Date:   February 28, 2024 
 
RE:     Recommendation to appoint Darrell Kirby to fill the Planning Commission vacancy  

until 12/31/2026 
 

We had three great applicants for the Planning Commission position left vacant by Muddasar 
Tawakkul. I am recommending appointment of Darrell Kirby due to his experience on Planning 
Commissions. Attached please find his resume. 
 
Thank you for your consideration. 
 



DARRELL KIRBY 
7340 Homestead Rd, Ypsilanti MI. 48197 

Home: (248)773-2512 
Email: Darltk@Gmail.com 

 
Experience with Boards and Commissions for over 20 years. Familiar with Roberts Rules and meeting dynamics. 

Boards and Commissions 

Ypsilanti Township Parks Commission: 2020 to Present 

Local Emergency Planning Commission: 2021 to Present 

City of Southfield Planning Commission: 2004 to 2010 

 
Professional Experience: 

 
 
 

 
Walker-Miller Energy, Detroit, Michigan                                                                          05/21-Present 

Information Technology Infrastructure Manager (Full time) 

 ·         Manage information technology and computer systems 

·         Proficient in hands on management Azure, O365, Servers, Data Security, Network and cloud based systems 

·    Leader of Data Security BoardPlanning, scope, and execute technical projects. 

·    Planning, scope, and execute technical projects. 

·         Instrumental in receiving approval for SOC, NIST and OSI certifications.   

·         Plan, organize, control and evaluate IT and electronic data operations 

·        Manage IT staff by recruiting, training and coaching employees, communicating job expectations and appraising their 
performance 

·        Ensure security of data, network access and backup systems 

·        Act in alignment with user needs and system functionality to contribute to organizational policy 

 
IBM Watson Health, Ann Arbor, Michigan,                  05/10-Present  
               
Lead Solutions Architect 
 

● Manage and support Disaster Recovery scenario’s for the organization. This includes Cold sites, Hot sites and 
preparation in events to successfully redeploy the business with minimal down time.  
 

● Management of staff which includes reviews, hiring, mentoring and training. Also includes budget preparation, 
purchasing, cost analysis and recommendation of technology to help the business remain competitive. Monitor the 
goals and direction of staff. Manage the relationships of remote sites and vendors. 
 

● Management of projects which included creation of Scope, managing Technical budget and finalization of project. 
Examples include moves, infrastructure upgrades, software and hardware upgrades. 



Darrell Kirby - Page 2 of 3 

 
 
 

 
BAKER COLLEGE, Flint Michigan       02/08-Present 
 
Adjunct Faculty – Online IT Graduate Program  
Involves teaching in Information Technology graduate program in an online and ground environment. This includes setting 
up the online blackboard environment, lecturing, grading assignments, Use of Turnitin.com, attendance and following up 
with students as needed.  Classes taught include A+ Computer certification, Data communications and networking 
 
OAKLAND COUNTY, Pontiac Michigan        06/00-05/10 
Network Systems Analyst II/Project Manager 
 
● System support for City, Village and Townships. Project Management of various projects with the Courts, Law 

Enforcement division. Duties include resource and team management, presentation, monitoring and closing. Manage 
various projects which include Software, Hardware, Email and Internet based projects. Use Project Management 
processes for Scheduling, Budgeting, Resource management and Scope. Tools used were Niku/Workbench and 
Microsoft Project.  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Education and Professional Development 
 

University of Michigan Flint, Organizational Leadership, 2017 
 
Walsh College, Project Management and Leadership Graduate Program, 2007 
 
University of Phoenix, Southfield, Michigan, MS in MIS, 2004 

  
Davenport University, Warren, Michigan, BA in CIS, 2000 

  
 
 

BOARDS and COMMISSIONS 
 
Ypsilanti Township Parks Commission - 2020 to Present 
 
School Board Member – CMU Charter School (New Beginnings)– 2017 to 2023 
 
Local Emergency Planning Committee(LEPC) – Appointed 2019 - present 
 
Precinct Delegate: 2010 to present 
 
Amberly Grove Home Owners Association Board of Directors 2018 to 2019.  
 
Planning Commissioner – Southfield Michigan 2005-2010. 
 
 



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
Ryan Hunter 

John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
To:      Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 
 
From:  Brenda Stumbo, Township Supervisor 
 
Date:   February 28, 2024 
 
RE:     Request to temporarily appoint Elizabeth Cuellar to fill the Civil Service 

Commission vacancy until 12/31/2024 
 

To fill the vacancy left by Hazelette Crosby in the Civil Service Commission, it was posted to 
social media and our website, but there were no applications. We will post this position again 
and encourage applicants, but in the interim I am recommending appointment of Deputy 
Supervisor Elizabeth Cuellar.  
 
Thank you for your consideration. 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI
 2024 BUDGET AMENDMENT # 3

March 5, 2024

AMOUNTS ROUNDED UP TO THE NEAREST DOLLAR 

101 - GENERAL OPERATIONS FUND Total Increase $10,761.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 101-000-699.999 $10,761.00

Net Revenues $10,761.00

Expenditures: Retiree Time Payout 101-191-708.008 $10,108.00
FICA 101-191-715.000 $653.00

Net Expenditures $10,761.00

206 - FIRE FUND Total Increase $0.00

Expenditures: Capital outlay - Fire Apparatus 206-901-979.000 ($36,321.00)
Auto & Truck Maint Station 1 206-336-935.001 $24,321.00
Auto & Truck Maint Station 3 206-336-935.003 $12,000.00

Net Expenditures $0.00

213 - BIKE, SIDEWALK, REC, ROADS  FUND (BSRII) Total Increase $55,000.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 213-000-699.999 $55,000.00

Net Revenues $55,000.00

Expenditures: Park Improvements - Signs 213-901-975.794 $55,000.00

Net Expenditures $55,000.00

Request to budget for 17 new park signs to be installed through out the park system.  This will be funded by 
an appropriation of prior year fund balance. 

Request to budget for the retiree time payout.  This will be funded by an appropriation of prior year fund balance. 

Request to do a budget line transfer between cost center expenditures,  from capital outlay to truck 
maintenance. There are funds budgeted in capital outlay fire apparatus that are no longer needed in the 2024 
budget and are needed in the truck maintenance lines for major repairs as listed below.  This will not change 
the total budget.  

1 of 1



Motion to Amend the 2024 Budget (#3)  
 
Move to increase the General Fund budget by $10,761 to $26,895,179 and approve the 

department line item changes as outlined. 
 
Move to complete a line transfer in the Fire Fund budget for a net result of zero and 

approve the department line item changes as outlined. 
 

Move to increase the Bike, Sidewalk, Rec, Roads Fund (BSRII) budget by $55,000 to 
$3,782,400 and approve the department line item changes as outlined. 

 
 
 



 

AUTHORIZATIONS AND BIDS 

 

 



 

 

Township Supervisor 
Brenda L. Stumbo 
Township Clerk 
Heather Jarrell Roe 
Township Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge 

Trustees 
Ryan Hunter 

John Newman II 
Gloria Peterson 

Debbie Swanson 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
To:  Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 
 
From:  John Hines, Municipal Services Director 
 
Date:  February 27, 2024 
 
Subject:          Accept the low bid for $55,000.00 from Bill Carr Signs for Park sign 
installation at seventeen (17) Township Park Locations.   
 
The Residential Services Department is requesting authorization to accept the low bid and 
authorize the signing of the agreement with Bill Carr Signs for $55,000.00 for the installation of 
seventeen (17) park signs from account 213-901-975.794 contingent on a budget amendment.   
 
The Board of Trustees previously approved at the August 15th, 2023 meeting for Township Staff 
to seek bids for the park sign project.  Bids were opened on August 31st, 2023.  After bids were 
opened, staff were in consistent communication with the low bidder Bill Car Signs to discuss the 
project and design options for the signs.  Attached to the memo are the final design options 
submitted to the Township for consideration.  RSD is proposing option 1a for current signs and 
2b for future mini park signs. 
 
Per the RFP Bill Carr signs will design, furnish, and install (17) new, non-lit, post and panel 
signs, with (6) being double sided and (11) single sided. The signs will be made from a material 
designed to withstand adverse weather conditions. Posts will be sized to withstand high winds, 
with a minimum of 42” installed in concrete footings.  Signs will display the park name,Ypsilanti 
Township logo, and when appropriate, space for mounting grant seals.  Overall size of the signs 
are 76 ¾”H x 96”W.  Decoration to be digitally printed vinyl with UV protective overlaminate. 
Existing signs will be removed and disposed of, unless otherwise requested by the Township. 
 
Double sided signs will be placed at: Clubview Park, Community Center Park, CommUnity 
Skate Park. Fork Heritage Park, Ford Lake Park, Lakeview Park 
 
Single sided signs will be placed at: Appleridge Park, Burns Park, Harris Park, Hewens Creek 
Park, Lakeside Park, Loonfeather Pointe Park, Nancy Park, North Bay Park, North Hydro Park, 
Nancy Park, Sugar Brook Park 
 
Bids received are listed below:   
 
Bill Carr Signs:   $55,000.00 
BlinkSigns:    $95,642.71  



















 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 

 



 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 

 



BOARD MEMBER UPDATES 


	March 5, 2024
	Regular Meeting Agenda
	Drain Presentation
	Consent Agenda
	February 6, 2024 Regular Meeting Minutes
	February 20, 2024 Statements and Checks
	March 5. 2024 Statements and Checks

	Attorney Report
	New Business
	Res. 2024-03, Bazley Foster Drain
	EMU Rowing Course Agreement
	LAITR Agreement
	Public Nuisance Abatement 1145 W. Michigan
	Public Nuisance Abatement 161 Ecorse Rd.
	Public Nuisance Abatement 9725 and 9645 Bemis 
	WCRC Ypsilanti Township Agreement
	ZBA Appt. David Marshall
	Planning Commission Appt. Darrell Kirby
	Civil Service Commission Appt Elizabeth Cuellar
	Budget Amendment #3

	Authorizations and Bids
	Award Low Bid for Park Signs

	Other Business
	Public Comments
	Board Member Updates



